

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-1-2021

Financial Strategies to Sustain Small Businesses Beyond 5 Years

Sandra Elizabeth Siddons Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons, Finance and Financial Management Commons, and the Management Information Systems Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Sandra Siddons

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Tim Truitt, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Diane Dusick, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Lionel De Souza, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Financial Strategies to Sustain Small Businesses Beyond 5 Years

by

Sandra E. Siddons

MA, University of Missouri, 2013

MBA, North Central College, 2011

BA, North Central College, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Abstract

Inadequate financial knowledge and planning have frequently led to small business failures. Small business owners (SBOs) who lack financial strategies to sustain their organizations may contribute to the estimated closure of 50% of new small businesses, found frequently occurring within the first 5 years of formation. Grounded in the human capital theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore financial knowledge and skills SBOs successfully used in support of long-term sustainability. The participants were five SBOs who used financial decision-making strategies to sustain their small business beyond 5 years in Northern Illinois. Upon completion of data collection from semistructured interviews and publicly available datasets, the data were subsequently analyzed using thematic and descriptive analyses. Four themes emerged: human capital development, management of financial risk, network sustainability, and the effective use of financial professionals. A key recommendation is for SBOs to adopt a focused human capital optimization strategy using proven and experienced business and financial mentors. The implications for positive social change include the potential to enhance organizational growth and the creation of business sustainability initiatives, resulting in a reduction in societal unemployment and contributing to the prosperity of local communities.

Financial Strategies to Sustain Small Businesses Beyond 5 Years

by

Sandra E. Siddons

MA, University of Missouri, 2013

MBA, North Central College, 2011

BA, North Central College, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my wonderful family. First, I dedicate this study to my parents, for exemplifying how to be not only hardworking but also a good person. Next, I dedicate this study to my husband, for putting my education first, especially when it meant countless hours of care for Maddie, our somewhat demanding 4-month old. Finally, I dedicate this study to that precious daughter of ours, who shared her time with mommy and her computer in attempts to complete this study as expeditiously as possible. It was through the confidence of my family that I was able to complete this study, especially in its final days.

Acknowledgments

Most importantly, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Tim Truitt (Chair), Dr. Diane M. Dusick (SCM), and Dr. Lionel S. de Souza (URR) for providing invaluable resources, advice, and support in my doctoral endeavor. I also would like to acknowledge my colleagues who provided ideas, guidance, and support since I began my journey. Last, but certainly not least, I want to recognize both past and present researchers in the business world and show a most sincere appreciation to the participants in this study for making this study possible.

Table of Contents

Se	ection 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
	Assumptions	6
	Limitations	7
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	8
	Contribution to Business Practice	8
	Implications for Social Change	9
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
	Human Capital Theory	11
	Supporting Theories	18
	Small Business Impact	20
	Small Business Owner's Contribution	22

Factors Contributing to Small Business Failure	23
Small Business Success	27
The Importance of Small Business Success in the United States	32
Transition	34
Section 2: The Project	36
Role of the Researcher	36
Participants	39
Research Method and Design	41
Research Method	41
Research Design	42
Population and Sampling	44
Ethical Research	47
Data Collection Instruments	49
Data Collection Technique	51
Data Organization Technique	54
Data Analysis	55
Reliability and Validity	58
Reliability	58
Validity	59
Transition and Summary	61
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	62
Introduction	62

Presentation of the Findings	62
Theme 1: Human Capital Development	. 64
Theme 2: Management of Financial Risk	. 67
Theme 3: Network Sustainability	. 71
Theme 4: Effective Use of Financial Professionals	. 75
Applications to Professional Practice	79
Implications for Social Change	80
Recommendations for Action	81
Recommendations for Further Research.	83
Reflections	84
Conclusion	85
References	87
Appendix: Interview Protocol	130

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small businesses account for 47% of all jobs in the United States (Dilger, 2020). As small businesses contribute 50% to the gross domestic product (U.S. Small Business Administration [SBA], 2018), the impact of small businesses to the economy is invaluable. The success of small business owners (SBOs) could affect positive social change through economic growth and improving the lives of customers, vendors, family members, communities, and government entities (Barnes & Westrenius, 2015). The purpose of the qualitative multiple case study was to explore the financial knowledge and skills some SBOs used to succeed beyond 5 years from business startup and establishment.

Background of the Problem

Successful SBOs employ effective financial skills to sustain their business beyond 5 years. A part of human capital, business employees make use of intellectual capital through intangible assets such as creativity, management, and marketing (Ginting, 2020). In a competitive market, successful SBOs employ effective business growth strategies. However, small business leaders need knowledge and skills to leverage effective business growth strategies. Profitability possibly correlates with skills in successful small businesses (Michaelis & Markham, 2017). By continuing the research on skills and profitability, researchers may be able to obtain a richer understanding of how knowledge and skills may lead to sustainability for small businesses.

Small businesses are for-profit organizations that employ fewer than 500 individuals (SBA, 2018). Job creation resulting from profitable small businesses can

positively contribute to the health of the economy (SBA, 2018). However, small businesses fail at a rate of 50% within 5 years (SBA, 2018). Michaelis and Markham (2017) suggested that a connection may exist between skills and profitability in small businesses. Small businesses need strong capital streams to be profitable (SBA, 2018). Identifying and analyzing the financial strategies that SBOs used to sustain their small businesses for at least 5 years may provide support and acumen to future SBOs.

Problem Statement

It is impossible to separate financial ineffectiveness from small business failure (Turner & Endres, 2017). In the United States, 50% of small businesses fail within 5 years (SBA, 2018). The general business problem is that SBOs often embark on small business initiatives without adequate preparation. The specific business problem is that some small business leaders lack the financial knowledge and skills necessary to succeed in business beyond 5 years.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the financial knowledge and skills some SBOs used to succeed in business beyond 5 years. The targeted population consisted of five SBOs from Northern Illinois who have been successful in business for over 5 years. The findings of the study have the potential to contribute to positive social change through organizational growth, organizational profitability, and improved business sustainability initiatives, which may lead to a reduction in societal unemployment and promote the prosperity of local families and communities.

Nature of the Study

The three major research methods are (a) qualitative, (b) quantitative, and (c) mixed methods (Ma, 2015). Researchers use the qualitative method of research to reach a deep understanding of the experiences participants have had with complex systems, processes, and social interactions (Garney et al., 2017). Quantitative researchers examine potential relationships between variables using numerical data (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Researchers using the mixed methods approach combine both qualitative and quantitative components (Povee & Roberts, 2013). To explore the financial knowledge and skills that SBOs used to succeed in business beyond 5 years, I was not testing hypotheses, which researchers use in a quantitative study as well as in the quantitative part of a mixed methods study. In this study, I used the qualitative research method to obtain an in-depth understanding of participants' experiences.

I considered three research designs that a researcher could use in a qualitative study on successful small businesses: (a) phenomenology, (b) ethnography, and (c) case study. Researchers use phenomenological models to achieve a profound understanding of the phenomenon under study (Yin, 2017). As the purpose of this study was not to explore a given phenomenon, a phenomenological study was not the optimal choice for this study. Ethnography involves obtaining insights about the cultural experiences of a group (Yin, 2017). Using an ethnographic design did not serve the purpose of this study because the cultures of individuals, organizations, groups, and communities in their natural habitats were not the focus of this study. The use of case studies allows researchers to explore and gather insights regarding events in a particular context (Yin, 2018).

Qualitative case studies may help to match exploratory goals of a study with current theory (Pihlajamaa et al., 2019). Researchers may be able to increase the accuracy and generalizability of study results by conducting a multiple case study (Yin, 2014). As the purpose of this study was to explore the knowledge and skills that small-scale managers used to make sound financial decisions to achieve business success and sustainability, the potential for accurate and generalizable results from a multiple case study research design made it the optimal choice for this research.

Research Question

The overarching research question which guided this study was:

RQ: What financial knowledge and skills do small business leaders use to succeed in business beyond 5 years?

Interview Questions

- 1. What financial training or education helped prepare you to become a small business owner?
- 2. What financial knowledge and skills were a strength in preparation to become a small business owner?
- 3. What financial training and education, if any, did you acquire to help you stay in business beyond 5 years?
- 4. What financial knowledge and skills were instrumental in achieving financial success of your business beyond 5 years?
- 5. What were the most significant challenges or barriers you experienced in the first 5 years of opening your small business?

- 6. What key financial knowledge and skills did you use to address the most significant challenges or barriers?
- 7. What businesses or organizations, if any, provided additional financial knowledge and skills that increased the success of your small business?
- 8. How have you assessed the effectiveness of your financial knowledge and skills for sustaining your business beyond 5 years?
- 9. What additional information can you share regarding financial knowledge and skills small business leaders need to achieve financial success beyond 5 years?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was the human capital theory (HCT). In 1962, Becker introduced the HCT in the book *Human Capital* as a means to explore education, knowledge, skills, and training as core tenets in advancing the success of business (Wright et al., 2014). The HCT is based on the leadership skills learned and implemented by successful business leaders (Becker, 1962). The key concepts of the theory include (a) on-the-job training (OJT), (b) advanced education, (c) higher earnings, and (d) economic growth (Becker, 1962). Schultz (1971) proposed that organizational leaders consider the skills and knowledge of employees as a capital investment. Therefore, I expected the HCT to serve as a useful lens to view and understand what financial knowledge and skills small business managers used to achieve commercial success and sustainability beyond 5 years.

Operational Definitions

Business sustainability: The ability of an organization to meet its needs (Ede et al., 2016).

Employee engagement: A positive psychological state put forth by maintaining behavioral, cognitive, and emotional energy in the workplace (Shuck et al., 2017).

Employee turnover: An indicator of workforce changes during a given period (Carpenter, 2017).

Small business: A for-profit organization that employs less than 500 people (SBA, 2018).

Sustainable leadership: A leader's ability to maintain organizational values in an efficient and persuasive manner (Cayak & Cetin, 2018).

U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA): An American governmental organization that offers educational, financial, and other resources to help sustain SBOs (SBA, 2018).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are unverified facts that a researcher considers to be true in a research study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I have identified three assumptions that were reasonable for this study. The first assumption was that all SBO leaders who participate would answer interview questions honestly and to the best of their ability. The second assumption was that a qualitative case study would be a suitable research design for this study. The final assumption for this study was that the replies to the interview

questions and corresponding documentation would provide enough data to answer the research question.

Limitations

Rubin and Babbie (2016) stated that limitations are weaknesses in a research study that are often out of the control of the researcher. Some decisions researchers make can be difficult to control (Marshall & Rossman, 2016), leading to potential limitations in the study. One limitation of qualitative research studies is researcher bias. Performing successful interviews with business leaders can be challenging (Liang & Liu, 2018). It is necessary to acknowledge the importance of recognizing and mitigating any aberrations subjected to the interpretations of the researcher (Choy, 2014). I used bracketing and strived to avoid researcher bias and maintain the authenticity of the study. A second limitation of this study was the potential for the narrowing of the depth and richness of the data by having SBOs as interviewees. A third limitation was that the findings of this study may reflect the experiences and shared perceptions of the sample only.

Delimitations

Delimitations in a research study are boundaries that limit the scope of data to include in the study (Eisner, 2017). Unlike limitations, delimitations are in the researcher's control (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The first delimitation was the location. Participants were limited geographically by being from Northern Illinois only. Rather than involving many participants, qualitative studies require detailed interviews (Malterud et al., 2015). Therefore, the second delimitation was the sample size. In a limited-scope case study, it is optimal to have a sample size of three to five participants

(Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Therefore, only five SBOs participated in this exploratory study. The final delimitation of this study was experience. The eligibility criteria required that only SBOs with more than 5 years of experience would be invited to participate in the study.

Significance of the Study

Because there is a high rate of failure for small businesses, the study findings of how other businesses have been sustainable may be of value to businesses. By identifying the financial strategies, knowledge, and skills for increasing the success rate of organizations, this study may contribute to the improvement of business practice. Shukla and Shukla (2014) noted that small businesses are integral to economic growth at the state level in the United States. There are 512,348 small businesses in Illinois (SBA, 2020a). Small businesses comprise 44.9% of the employees in Illinois (SBA, 2020a). Because the economy in Illinois is reliant on the success of small businesses, providing financial strategies for business sustainability in the results of this study might contribute to positive social change.

Contribution to Business Practice

Though many SBOs may have general knowledge on how to run a business, Gunasekaran et al. (2015) suggested that research may not always support the decisions of business leaders. The necessary financial knowledge and skills to succeed in business have changed over the years (Ulrich et al., 2013). Saha et al. (2016) proposed that financial business strategies may correlate positively with organizational performance. The findings of this study may enable SBOs to make better financial and business

decisions to anticipate and address the threat of financial challenges. By preventing or mitigating the risk of financial difficulties, an SBO may be able to increase both the effectiveness as well as the efficiency of the organization. Further potential contributions to business practice from the findings of this study may include SBOs identifying and implementing financial knowledge to develop and deploy strategies that can improve both strategic and operational decision-making for increasing business sustainability.

Implications for Social Change

The findings of this study could contribute to positive social change as the knowledge from it may inspire SBOs to learn better business management and sustainability strategies, which could lead to stronger communities and greater economic growth. Holloway and Schaefer (2014) noted that society benefits from sturdier communities made stronger through the success of productive businesses. Ghosh et al. (2013) concluded that research on business practices may lead to responsible leadership in financial organizations. Shukla and Shukla (2014) suggested that small businesses are an integral part of progress, job creation, and economic growth.

Tietz and Parker (2014) opined that self-employed individuals are more favorable toward helping charities than members of the general population. Mulovic et al. (2015) suggested that the added value of volunteer offerings by SBOs may support positive public relations. Barnes and Westrenius (2015) noted that the success of SBOs could affect positive social change through economic growth and improving the lives of customers, vendors, family members, communities, and government entities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

A systematic search for literature is one way to mitigate bias and enhance credibility for researchers (Booth et al., 2016). To explore a topic, researchers perform literature reviews through the collection of data from existing literature (Machi & McEvoy, 2016). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the financial knowledge and skills some SBOs used to succeed in business beyond 5 years. I present a critical review of the literature on the success of SBOs sourced from many journals, governmental sources, and seminal texts. I employed various databases from the Walden University Library as the primary tool to source pertinent literature. The central databases through the Walden Library that I utilized included ProQuest and Business Source Complete. The strategy for locating useful resources included the use of keywords, including business failure, business success, business sustainability, entrepreneur, skills, small business, and small business owners. To keep data current, I applied parameters using dates no earlier than 2017 while searching the databases. To ensure the use of only peer-reviewed articles, I verified materials using Ulrich's Periodicals Directory. There were 302 references used in this doctoral study. I incorporated 90 references into the literature review, including 78 (87%) that were published in 2017 or later in peer-reviewed journals.

In a general sense, there is a significant quantity of literature available regarding SBOs. More specifically, there is also a sizeable amount of research regarding the lack of skills SBOs need to stay in business beyond 5 years that could connect the lack of human capital to the 50% failure rate of small businesses within a timeframe of 5 years. To

present the information effectively and efficiently, I arranged the literature review by themes. The first theme in the review of the literature was the HCT and the opposing theories of the resource-based view (RBV) theory and the general systems theory (GST). The second theme of the literature review reflected the connection between the lending industry and small businesses. The third theme related to factors that contribute to the failure of small businesses. The last theme of the literature review included contributing factors to the success of small businesses.

Human Capital Theory

Wright et al. (2014) explained the HCT as a way to connect knowledge and skills to overall leadership. In following the HCT, it is possible to elevate the value of an organization by increasing training and education as it relates to each individual's use of capabilities, knowledge, and skills (Becker, 1993). The discussion of how an individual's knowledge and skills may be related to future impacts began more than 50 years ago (Becker, 1962). Some academics and practitioners have continued the discussion by considering the role education plays in improving economic opportunity for individuals (Schultz, 1971). More recently, Geraudel et al. (2017) suggested that the cultivation of individual skills can generate growth within an organization. Investing in individuals via resources and activities likely to result in future income promotes the development of human capital (Becker, 1962). A focus on increasing the human capital of individuals may elevate the value of an organization.

In this study, the term *human capital* represents the capabilities, knowledge, and skills that define the necessary resources in the context of a business (Becker, 1962).

Successful business managers can use leadership knowledge and skills both for growth and business sustainability (Becker, 1962). Some academics and practitioners have used the postulations of the HCT to find ways to increase the competitive edge of small business leaders (Lampadarios, 2016). Thriving SBOs have the necessary skills to successfully execute innovative ideas into the business (Geraudel et al., 2017). Researchers can use the HCT to help explain the effect of knowledge and skills on organizations as well as nearby communities (Raffiee & Coff, 2016). Understanding the HCT can help SBOs be more competitive leaders.

Studying the HCT can aid the understanding of how business knowledge and skills can contribute to organizational growth. Human capital consists of intangible assets, such as knowledge and skills (Becker, 1962). Prospering SBOs secure a crucial awareness of the vital human capital required for an organization to thrive (Mahoney & Kor, 2015). In the decades following 1980, the returns from human capital have been increasing in the United States (Becker et al., 2018). The intangible assets of knowledge and skills, which have defined human capital, are critical concepts in successful organizational growth (Mahoney & Kor, 2015). A thorough understanding of human capital may help SBOs learn how to grow an organization.

Researchers may be more able to comprehend the connection between entrepreneurial success and knowledge and skills in leadership through the HCT (Unger et al., 2011). By contributing to an entrepreneur's general awareness, human capital aids the discovery of new opportunities, which may lead to higher success rates in the organization (Unger et al., 2011). Researchers applying the HCT should understand its

four main components: (a) advanced education, (b) economic growth, (c) higher earnings, and (d) OJT (Becker, 1962). SBOs can acquire useful insights via a thorough understanding of the four factors of the HCT.

Advanced Education

Small business leaders may be able to increase the success rate of businesses through the provision of educational opportunities for employees as well as managers. The level of education of an entrepreneur may have an impact on the probability of success at an organization (Kurczewska et al., 2020). Educated workers may be able to increase the efficiency of a company (Vandenberghe, 2018). Educated managers and employees may contribute to the success of an organization.

Individuals can obtain further training through an educational institution or directly through experience (Becker, 1962). SBOs view general transferable skills and specific skills (also known as *occupational skills*) as advanced education (Raffiee & Coff, 2016). Education can lead to higher earnings over the lifetime of an employee (Bhuller et al., 2017). The predictions academics and practitioners have derived from the HCT have been frequently substantiated in terms of education leading to a higher age-to-earnings profile (Bhuller et al., 2017). Advanced education may lead to higher earnings.

A lack of skills can lead to difficulties with marketing, technology, and finance (Awasthi & Mathur, 2017). Due to the inexistence of a substitute for skilled manpower, supplying instruction geared toward enhanced occupational skills may lead to a competitive advantage (Becker, 1962). Advancing education can lead to higher lifetime earnings (Bhuller et al., 2017). In one study, additional schooling led to an internal rate of

return of about 11% (Bhuller et al., 2017). There may be a positive correlation between profitability and advanced education (Schultz, 1971). Having educated employees may lead to higher profitability.

Creativity, satisfaction with daily duties and pay, merit-based promotion, and a sense of community in the workplace usually correlate with lower rates of turnover intention (Cho & Song, 2017). Employees need to feel that the compensation received is related to self-worth (Leip et al., 2017). If not being used efficiently, reallocating highly-trained employees may help increase the economic efficiency of the enterprise (Vandenberghe, 2018). Though having more education may lead to a higher level of ease of departure from an organization, business leaders can employ positive reinforcement techniques to decrease employee turnover, such as creating and sustaining an empowering work environment, promotions, and rewards (Lin et al., 2017). SBOs can use advanced education to have higher-performing employees and higher profitability, which can lead to a more sustainable organization.

Economic Growth

Studying the knowledge and skillsets of small business leaders may lead to a deeper comprehension of the connection between human capital and organizational growth. Organizations can gain a competitive edge by having leaders ready to embrace change and embark on new opportunities (Buys et al., 2014). Small businesses are integral to economic growth at the state level in the United States (Shukla & Shukla, 2014). Understanding how small businesses can be successful is important to the sustained economic growth of a country.

Entrepreneurship is a factor in the economic growth of a nation (Melwani, 2018). Small business leaders who focus on entrepreneurial development may be able to impact economic growth (Melwani, 2018). Reallocating highly-trained employees who are not being used efficiently may raise the level of economic efficiency within a firm (Vandenberghe, 2018).

Innovation may influence economic growth (Soriano et al., 2018). Small businesses can influence a given country's socioeconomic development (Chand & Parmar, 2018), and small businesses contribute to exports and employment globally (Awasthi & Mathur, 2017). The success of small businesses may be an integral factor in economic development.

Small business leaders may have an impact on the economic growth in a community (Toma et al., 2014). Some academics and practitioners have stated that economic growth worldwide may be led by the success of small businesses (Karadag, 2015). Economic growth may effect positive social change (Barnes & Westrenius, 2015). A high level of human capital may give small business leaders strength to grow the organization, which can strengthen economic growth in the community as well.

Higher Earnings

SBOs can procure more business opportunities by capitalizing on skills and knowledge. The experience, knowledge, and skills that business owners have define their human capital (Gittins & Fink, 2015). There is perhaps a relationship between the long-run development of a company and the level of human capital of its leaders (Witts, 2016).

Small business leaders who understand how to effectively use human capital may be able to contribute to organizational development.

By strategically using human capital, small business leaders can bring value to an organization and may be able to generate higher earning potential for staff. There is a possible relationship between additional schooling and earnings; education is a factor in higher earnings over the lifetime of an employee (Bhuller et al., 2017). Skilled employees drive growth to create long-term value in an organization (Bremen et al., 2020). Strategic use of human capital can lead to sustained earnings in an organization.

Investing in workplace training may lead to an increased level of innovation and higher wages, which could lead to more committed staff members and higher profitability (Bassi & McMurrer, 2008). Paying higher wages to employees with advanced training possibly correlates with lower employee turnover (Becker, 1962). A focus on high-quality hiring practices, human resource development, and competitive compensation packages may lead to lower turnover.

The primary goals of many business owners are to increase both profitability and productivity (Bae & Paterson, 2014). Human capital is an important factor in business owner value (Bremen et al., 2020). Higher profits motivate SBOs (Barnes & Westrenius, 2015). Productive leaders are more likely to earn higher financial returns (Bremen et al., 2020). Knowing how to capitalize on the strengths of the employees can lead to higher earnings, which may lead to long-run business sustainability.

On-the-Job Training

Investing in the human capital of employees may be a way to increase firm earnings (Becker, 1962). Implementing OJT can improve the skills and knowledge of organizational leaders and employees, which can lead to higher profits (Becker, 1962). Possessing the human capital necessary to acquire, retain, and train employees can lead to effective use of labor, which can lead to a competitive advantage in the organization (Lampadarios, 2016). SBOs who implement OJT to increase human capital may have higher business success rates.

Losing newly-hired employees can increase costs and may lead to an increase in the turnover rate of tenured staff as well (Kurnat-Thoma et al., 2017). The existence of unmotivated employees leading to turnover may justify a focus on the prevention of employee attrition (Frederiksen, 2017). Motivating employees through job enrichment can help employees to have a higher level of job satisfaction (Coetzee & van Dyk, 2018). Offering OJT through enrichment opportunities may help employees feel more satisfied in the workplace.

A focus on career development might contribute to a feeling of stability in employees (Coetzee, 2018). Business leaders should create conditions to encourage the use of creativity of employees (Min et al., 2017). Fostering the creativity of employees may increase feelings of stability among employees within an organization.

Missed opportunities can lead to decreased organizational performance resulting from inadequate training of new hires (Michaelis & Markham, 2017). Employees who have both a higher level of education and OJT are invaluable to organizations, and SBOs

can increase the success of a program by 30% through the combination of classroom instruction and OJT (Turcut, 2016). Highly skilled and knowledgeable SBOs who provide OJT and education can increase the knowledge and skill set of the employees.

Supporting Theories

Along with the HCT, academics and practitioners apply many theories to explore essential leadership skills. To achieve the objective of having a deeper comprehension of the leadership skills needed to be a successful small business leader, I researched the various theories relating to successful businesses and leadership skills. Two supporting theories to the HCT include the GST and the RBV.

General Systems Theory

The four-part GST developed in the 1930s represents (a) attributes, (b) environment, (c) internal relationships, and (d) objects (von Bertalanffy, 1972). Over time, business leaders in multiple fields applied the GST and expanded it to various disciplines (Gabriel et al., 2016). To understand the GST, it may be helpful to consider a firm as interconnected moving parts that coordinate to make up the whole (von Bertalanffy, 1972). The GST can be used for analysis by business leaders.

Systems thinking takes place when a business leader uses relevant skills to recognize the relationships between the various elemental components that make up the organization (Shaked & Schechter, 2017). Using the notion that the sum of the parts can be either greater than or equal to the whole, the GST is a way to review existing structures to make a more sustainable organization (Shaked & Schechter, 2017). Understanding the GST may help SBOs become more likely to succeed.

In terms of the GST, (a) attributes consist of the ways the various business functions relate to different business entities; (b) environment represents the way that the interconnectedness of the components affects profitability; (c) objects represent the different positions, such as the employees and the owner; and (d) relationships represent the effectiveness of the interactions between the objects (Heirs, 2016). In the GST, the component parts collectively work together within their environment (Johnson, 2019). The study of the evolution of the relationships and processes in an organization may explain how systems theory relates to the HCT.

Considering systems theory can perhaps aid business owners looking to understand meaningful ways to increase business sustainability. Businesses led by managers who lack useful skills or experience may be more likely to fail over time (Gabriel et al., 2016). To pinpoint and mitigate potential organization-wide issues, exchanges between all stakeholders are crucial when performing systems thinking (Gabriel et al., 2016). The analysis derived from systems thinking may allow for ways to improve business processes by understanding the inner workings of the organization.

The Resource-Based View Theory

The RBV was developed prior to the introduction of the HCT, which is a similar notion. The RBV provides the groundwork for decision-making to create potential advantages over competitors (Penrose & Pitelus, 2009). SBOs may be able to improve business sustainability through education, knowledge, skills, and training (Wright et al., 2014). SBOs who have a thorough understanding of the RBV may make better business decisions.

SBOs can lead organizations to business sustainability by purposefully aligning resources. Though difficult to measure, access to knowledge resources may increase over time (Yallwe & Buscemi, 2014). Increased knowledge can lead to a higher intellectual value of assets in the organization called (a) *intellectual assets*, (b) *intellectual capital*, (c) *intangible assets*, and (d) *knowledge assets* (Yallwe & Buscemi, 2014). The resource of knowledge can have an impact on various aspects of an organization.

Tangible items are resources such as equipment, while intangible assets are resources such as knowledge and skills (Penrose & Pitelus, 2009). Some business leaders may value intangible resources incorrectly, which, for example, may lead to some intangible resources being counted inaccurately as expenses instead of investments (Yallwe & Buscemi, 2014). Both intangible resources as well as tangible resources are substantial components of the RBV. Using the RBV can help business leaders understand whether the company can effectively use intangible or tangible resources in attempts to achieve a competitive advantage.

Small Business Impact

Small businesses affect economic development. Though most small businesses have less than 100 employees, any firm that employs less than 500 is considered a small business in the United States (SBA, 2018). Though 99.9% of all firms in the United States are small businesses, only about 50% are sustainable beyond 5 years (SBA, 2018). Though small businesses can be minor in scale and may not always have high profits, successful small businesses can have a profound impact on gross domestic product

(GDP) in developed countries (Klimczak et al., 2017). Providing skills to small business employees may increase the chance of success of small businesses.

Innovation may be a factor in economic growth (Soriano et al., 2018) and a focus on entrepreneurial development can lead to economic growth (Melwani, 2018). Small businesses can affect a given country's socioeconomic development (Chand & Parmar, 2018) and are major contributors to exports and employment globally (Awasthi & Mathur, 2017). The decision to become an entrepreneur can have an impact on growth and job creation in an economy (Melwani, 2018). The success of small businesses can lead to economic development (Melwani, 2018), so promoting the success of small business may lead to economic growth.

Some small businesses struggle with establishing effective marketing practices and the efficient use of technology and financing due to a lack of skilled workers (Awasthi & Mathur, 2017). Helping small businesses navigate through financial struggles may contribute to a nation's economy (Chand & Parmar, 2018). Small business successes and failures may have a profound impact on the United States economy.

Entrepreneurship promotes economic growth (Melwani, 2018). Creating goods and services, as well as jobs, are some of the many ways small businesses can impact both local communities and the economy (Barnes & Westrenius, 2015). Having more information may help businesses be more innovative (Soriano et al., 2018). Business leader support may lead to improvements in the organization (Schiemann et al., 2018). As lacking resources, such as human capital, is a challenge that small business leaders may

encounter (Quan & Huy, 2014), investing in human capital may have a positive impact on the sustainability of small businesses beyond 5 years.

Small Business Owner's Contribution

Entrepreneurial intentions can be formed by learning from others (Zozimo et al., 2017). As innovation is a major component of economic growth (Soriano et al., 2018), it may be important to consider the factors that make businesses more likely to innovate. Given high levels of information, businesses may be more likely to innovate (Soriano et al., 2018); increasing the amount of information available to businesses may increase innovation.

The ability to increase the value of a given resource, such as through job creation and increased profits, makes entrepreneurship a creative human process (Toma et al., 2014). The ability to become a successful change agent through thriving on seized opportunities typically increases over time (Toma et al., 2014). Entrepreneurship may be a component of economic growth (Melwani, 2018), and growth is important for most business leaders (Hechavarria et al., 2019). SBOs who have a solid understanding of why some businesses succeed may practice better decision making (Healy & Mac Con Iomaire, 2018), and some SBOs may be able to make better decisions for their businesses by understanding the success factors of small businesses.

SBOs are organizational leaders. Being detail-oriented and having experience may be a signal of effective leadership (Seelhofer & Valeri, 2017). An SBO can be the acting human resource director by employing ideas from their knowledge, skills, and

lived experience (Garavan et al., 2016). Increasing the body of knowledge may help SBOs be more effective in promoting business sustainability.

Job creation and economic growth can be derived from entrepreneurship (Melwani, 2018). Roughly 40 percent of job creation may result from top-performing firms (Hechavarria et al., 2019). Overseeing multiple operations, such as director of finance, human resources, and marketing, may be overwhelming to an entrepreneur who lacks the necessary knowledge and skills to manage such roles.

Factors Contributing to Small Business Failure

Entrepreneurs can learn from the successes and failures of various businesses. Business failure occurs when a business owner shuts down because the choice to maintain operations appears unsustainable for any of a variety of reasons (Etuk et al., 2014). Many failed businesses represent a combination of ineffective processes and significant financial loss (Lussier & Corman, 2015). Through enhanced access to knowledge and skills, SBOs may improve the likelihood of business sustainability (Etuk et al., 2014); however, more research may exist on the success of businesses than on failure (Lussier & Corman, 2015). Determining the factors that correlate with business failure may benefit entrepreneurs by providing preparation for any matters that may arise in operating a small business.

High rates of turnover can impact the performance of an organization (Makarius et al., 2017). Job satisfaction may be a contributing factor in understanding employee turnover (Basol & Demirkaya, 2017; Berlanda et al., 2017). As a high rate of employee turnover may represent dissatisfaction amongst the staff (Wendsche et al., 2017),

increasing overall job satisfaction may moderate turnover intention (Gan et al., 2018). Higher levels of satisfaction have been reported when managers show genuine concern about an employee as a person (Rao, 2017). Job satisfaction is a factor in turnover in the organization.

A business environment represents the influences affecting business activities and development (Polteva et al., 2019). Many of the successes or failures of business activities often directly relate to the business environment (Dvorsky et al., 2019). By establishing common goals, managers and employees may create a positive work environment (Sarwar, 2017). In a positive work environment, employees are more likely to be intrinsically motivated to complete tasks in the workplace (Spivack & Milosevic, 2018). Positive practices include a focus on care, forgiveness, inspiration, meaning, respect, and support (Geue, 2018). To develop self-efficacy in staff, it is important for supervisors to provide support to employees (Afzal et al., 2019). Increasing the favorability of the reputation of the organization may increase job satisfaction for its employees (Makarius et al., 2017). Creating a positive work environment and focusing on having a reputable company may help employees feel more satisfied in the workplace.

Turnover intention has direct as well as indirect cost implications that can threaten the organization (Rubel & Okech, 2017). Two complex challenges business leaders often face include job attractiveness and satisfaction (Slimane, 2017). Employees who have job satisfaction may be inclined to expend more effort than the job requires (Lee et al., 2017). By being involved with the needs of employees, managers may be able to decrease the rate of turnover in the organization (Othman et al., 2018). Manager behavior is a common

reason that employees give for leaving an organization (Reina et al., 2018). Managers who are able to create organizational trust may positively influence employee empowerment (Begzadeh & Nedaei, 2017). Empowering employees through the provision of meaningful tasks and a sense of control may improve job satisfaction (Kim & Fernandez, 2017). Leaders who focus on employee empowerment can indirectly impact worker passion and performance (Hao et al., 2017). Managers may be able to decrease the turnover rate of the firm by having a focus on job satisfaction for the employees.

There are many effective approaches to try to manage employee retention (Wilson & Chaudry, 2017). The use of both financial and non-financial incentives are strong indicators of employee retention (Pek-Greer & Wallace, 2017). Applying tools to increase employee engagement may increase employee retention (Reina et al., 2018). Effective managers ensure task completion as necessary while ensuring a high level of job satisfaction (Mikkelson et al., 2017). Job satisfaction is a determinant of turnover intention (Fernandez-Ardevol et al., 2017). Job-related stress levels may adversely affect employee creativity (Dockterman & Weber, 2017) and lead to personal health issues, which may contribute to employee turnover (Cho et al., 2017). Exhibiting a low degree of job satisfaction is often a precursor to the intention of an employee to leave an organization (Fernandez-Ardevol et al., 2017). Because of dissatisfaction at work, high-performing employees may seek new opportunities elsewhere (Park et al., 2017). Job satisfaction may be a factor in turnover intention.

Though a lack of pertinent knowledge and skills may lead to business failure, their procurement may contribute to options for organizational expansion. Businesses often fail due to a lack of planning (Ajaz Khan et al., 2019). Before starting a business, it is atypical for entrepreneurs to have the necessary skills to be leaders and human resource directors (Garavan et al., 2016). In following the RBV, it can be harmful to the company to dedicate an insufficient number of resources to leadership training (Garavan et al., 2016). Failing to acquire the necessary knowledge and skills to employ and oversee valuable personnel can adversely affect organizational outcomes (Lampadarios, 2016). Small businesses may need knowledge and skills to be successful.

Before starting a business, future small business leaders can self-educate on the errors made by prior business leaders. The success of small businesses may be threatened by uncertainty and risk (Herciu, 2017). Individual skills can have an impact on the sustainability of a small business. Various reasons some businesses have failed in the past include poor management, inadequate financing, and ineffectual business practices (Lussier & Corman, 2015). In addition to acquiring the necessary knowledge and skills to become a business leader, SBOs should also know how to properly use such skills to run the business effectively (Etuk et al., 2014). Insufficient financing and ineffective financial management have often been observed to be contributing factors in the failure of small businesses (Karadag, 2015). Understanding the reasons some businesses have failed may help future business owners to be more successful in their endeavors.

Small businesses fail at high rates (SBA, 2018). Planning and strategizing typically relates to the sustainability of a business (Lampadarios, 2016). No single route

has been identified to ensure business sustainability, but some specific resources and methods may correlate with higher rates of business success (Lussier & Corman, 2015). Furthering the research on leadership could help reveal more of the rationale behind why some businesses thrive and some companies fail (Lussier & Corman, 2015). As many businesses fail due to a lack of a leader's skills and knowledge, it can be helpful to understand the factors that determine how to procure and use such valuable resources.

Small Business Success

The effective use of human capital may lead to a decreased rate of small business failure. Because resources are not unlimited, it may be vital to use skills and knowledge efficiently (Garavan et al., 2016). Investing in components of human capital, such as education and training, may lead to favorable outcomes for firms (Becker, 1993). Understanding the possible relationship between investments in human capital and business outcomes is essential in exploring how knowledge and skills are beneficial to small businesses.

As small businesses fail at high rates (SBA, 2018), furthering the knowledge and skillsets of business managers may increase the success rates of small businesses. Business leaders can apply individual skills through relevant product and service upgrades (Planko et al., 2017). Learning about skills and knowledge that correlate with small business success may provide strategies for practical approaches to new business ventures moving forward.

Effective leadership might increase the competitive advantage of a small business.

Small business managers can cultivate a higher degree of competitive advantage by

understanding the human capital necessary to meet organizational needs (Wright et al., 2014). In attempts to become an industry leader, it is crucial to consider the ways some industry leaders work to sustain a competitive advantage (Wright et al., 2014). SBOs who secure a more profound comprehension of effective human capital utilization may have a higher chance of business success.

Effective use of human capital tends to lead to a higher chance for a business to be sustainable (Becker, 1962). To reiterate, by increasing the knowledge base of the staff, there is a higher level of intellectual value in the assets of the company (Yallwe & Buscemi, 2014). As human capital is an asset, allocating funds toward human capital development is investing in the business (Bassi & McMurrer, 2008). Investment in training may lead to more innovation and higher wages, which can lead to more committed staff members and higher profitability (Bassi & McMurrer, 2008). A possible correlation exists between customer retention and training costs on a per-employee basis (Bassi & McMurrer, 2008). SBOs may be more likely to have a sustainable business by being aware of the knowledge and skills employed by successful predecessors.

Education and Training

Advancing the level of human capital at an organization by seeking out opportunities to further knowledge and skills can give business owners an edge over competitors. Two methods of advancing the knowledge and skills of staff include education and training (Becker, 1993). Advanced education and training can strengthen the owner's capability set, which may cultivate a higher likelihood of success in business. Receiving training in entrepreneurship can aid the creative thought process, which may

help business owners make more innovative decisions, given the constraint of having limited resources (Lin & Nabergoj, 2014). Education and training may help SBOs to become more successful

Intellectual capital involves converting the knowledge assets into value at an organization (Ginting, 2020). By learning to identify and allocate scarce resources, a business leader is more likely to have a more self-sustaining business (Lin & Nabergoj, 2014). Education and training can improve chances for success for a new entrepreneur.

It may be possible to decrease the cost of training by pursuing more informal, low-cost, or free educational opportunities. Some governmental agencies offer services that provide education geared toward innovation and problem solving (Lin & Nabergoj, 2014). The United States Small Business Administration (SBA, 2018) is a governmental agency that offers many supplemental resources, including business plan templates designed for small businesses. Knowing how to find free or low-cost educational resources may help small business leaders in a variety of ways.

It may be important to seek out additional ways that a firm might be able to benefit from external resources. SBOs should consider the mission statement for the business when planning as well as executing various initiatives geared toward business sustainability (Epstein & Buhovac, 2015). The deliberate implementation of knowledge and skills improvement initiatives may enhance human capital resources.

Finances, Human Resources, Marketing, and Networking

Small business leaders use human capital for purposes of achieving success in four main ways: (a) financial capability, (b) human resources, (c) marketing, and (d)

networking. Small business leaders can benefit through collaboration on financial plans with various organizations in the industry. Financial planning is an essential component of small business success (Karadag, 2015). Therefore, to grow a business, small business leaders may need to have skills related to financial planning.

When starting a business, it is vital to have strong human resource management skills. Before starting a business, it is atypical for entrepreneurs to have the necessary skills to be leaders and to direct human resource operations (Garavan et al., 2016). Human resource directors who understand the HCT may be able to use such knowledge in attempts to motivate employees (Bae & Patterson, 2014). Providing staff with the right resources can aid in organizational advancement.

Employing invaluable marketing techniques may help SBOs achieve a competitive advantage. A part of human capital, business employees use intellectual capital through marketing (Ginting, 2020). Business owners can create marketing plans using step-by-step guides, such as the guides created by Westwood (2019). A strong marketing plan may help businesses better utilize intellectual capital.

Exploiting the benefits of networking can aid in the growth of small businesses. In 2016, a single global networking organization led to over \$11 billion in closed business by referral (Business Networking International, 2020). Networking can be facilitated in an online environment as well as in person once COVID-19 restrictions have been lifted. An example of an online business networking option is the website LinkedIn (Bunn et al., 2014). Applying networking effectively can lead to increased profitability for business leaders.

Stakeholders, Corporate Social Responsibility, and Growth

Small business managers may need to be accountable to many various stakeholders to be successful. Stakeholders have an interest in continued economic growth for businesses (Barnes & Westrenius, 2015). Increased engagement may be possible through regular interaction, involvement, and immersion with the stakeholders (Mitchell & Clark, 2018). If an SBO wishes to incorporate business sustainability into the overall strategy and therefore the culture, the stakeholders may need to be welcoming to the changes as well (Epstein & Buhovac, 2015). Successfully connecting with stakeholders may lead to encouraging outcomes for the firm and can lead to positive social change for society.

Effective utilization of environmental, financial, and social tools in a firm can lead to organizational growth and profitability. Effectively combining customer orientation and human capital can change the culture by forging a strategy for an enhanced competitive advantage (Buys et al., 2014). An enhanced competitive advantage may be able to decrease the failure gap and increase business sustainability (Buys et al., 2014). Exhibiting sufficient knowledge and skills can help small business leaders effectively guide staff members into a culture that promotes social welfare as well as business success.

It is possible to apply knowledge and skills to create a business sustainability plan that incorporates corporate social responsibility (CSR). Using CSR in a business sustainability plan may raise the potential for innovation and long-term business sustainability (Gherghina & Simionescu, 2015). There may be a positive correlation

between business performance and CSR implementation (Gherghina & Simionescu, 2015). Overall, CSR is an integral tenet for organizational growth. Groups, organizations, and individuals may be able to develop a solid foundation for relationships through social exchange (Barbalet, 2017). Self-motivated employees often achieve higher levels of engagement in the workplace (Pandita & Singhal, 2017). Regular engagement with people who have a keen interest in business sustainability may increase the likelihood of business success and simultaneously create positive social change in the community.

Small business leaders need to be aware of the sustainability of the firm. It is crucial to measure the continuous improvements small business managers make (Epstein & Buhovac, 2015). The success of small businesses may be a factor in economic growth worldwide (Karadag, 2015). Small business leaders can engage stakeholders and measure progress via the implementation of a sustainability scorecard (Buys et al., 2014). In an exploratory approach, measurements can take the form of surveys and interviews for qualitative studies (Hahn et al., 2015). Business owners who focus on obtaining skills that foster business sustainability may lead to a higher level of financial and social wellbeing of the firm.

The Importance of Small Business Success in the United States

Using data from meta-analytic studies of over 24,000 entrepreneurs, Unger et al. (2011) suggested that there may be a positive correlation between success and human capital. Similarly, there may be a relationship between organizational performance and intangible resources (Unger et al., 2011). Business leaders who understand the HCT can motivate employees and may be able to mitigate the risk of failure (Bae & Patterson,

2014). Human resource directors can utilize the HCT to increase the assets of the organization (Bae & Patterson, 2014). Some policymakers use the HCT to enact training, legislation, and education reform (Bae & Patterson, 2014). Human capital may be related to organizational success.

Successful businesses may be able to contribute to a stronger societal well-being. A solid commitment to human capital development can lead to growth in a small business (Mahoney & Kor, 2015). In 2013, though over 406,000 firms formed in the United States, 400,700 closed within the same year (SBA, 2018). Understanding how human capital affects small businesses may help increase the sustainability rate of small businesses.

In the United States, there are 28 million small businesses (Campbell & Parks, 2017). Contributing 50% to the gross domestic product (SBA, 2018), small businesses account for 47% of all jobs in the United States (Dilger, 2020). Small businesses may, therefore, be an integral component in maintaining the strength of the economy.

Human capital may contribute to business sustainability. In prior research, companies that exhibit the use of substantial human capital have been shown to be three times more successful than those that lack strength in human capital (Bassi & McMurrer, 2008). Continuing the research of the knowledge and skills that contribute to both the successes and failures of small businesses can help future enterprises of all sizes, thereby potentially improving the economy as well as the social welfare of our society.

Transition

Section 1 represented the foundation of the study and included the background of the problem, the problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, and the research question. Additionally, Section 1 had a detailed inclusion of the interview questions, conceptual framework, operational definitions, and the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations for the study. The remaining components of Section 1 consisted of the significance of the study, including the contribution to business practice and the implications for social change, and a review of the professional and academic literature. The review of the literature encompassed a thorough analysis of contemporary research as it related to the knowledge and skills needed to successfully sustain a small business and other related themes throughout the literature to provide an exhaustive understanding of the research topic.

Section 2 begins with a restatement of the purpose statement from Section 1 and explains the role of the researcher, while also discussing the participants, research method, and research design. The responsibilities as the data collection instrument for the study, and detailed information about the data collection and data analysis processes, follow. There is also a section on ensuring both reliability and validity in qualitative research at the conclusion of Section 2. The objective for Section 3 is to (a) include the presentation of the findings, (b) expand on the application to professional practices and the implications social change, (c) present recommendations for actions and future research on the necessary financial skills and knowledge for the sustainability of small

businesses, and (d) present a personal reflection about the doctoral process as well as the conclusions from the study.

Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the financial knowledge and skills some SBOs used to succeed in business beyond 5 years. The targeted population consisted of five SBOs from Northern Illinois who have had a successful business for at least 5 years. The findings of the study have the potential to contribute to positive social change through organizational growth, organizational profitability, and improved business sustainability initiatives, which may lead to a reduction in societal unemployment and promote the prosperity of local families and communities.

Role of the Researcher

Roulston and Shelton (2015) noted that in a qualitative study, the researcher becomes the research instrument. Hallberg (2013) opined that a primary role of the researcher is to account for professional as well as personal experience to ensure that it does not disrupt data collection, data analysis, or data interpretation. In qualitative research, the researcher must conduct interviews, interpret results, and analyze data without deliberate distortion. The role of the researcher is to fully understand participant responses to develop practical strategies and meaning from experiences (Eisner, 2017). A personal role of a researcher can be to become the research instrument through (a) recruiting participants, (b) conducting interviews, (c) reviewing organizational documents, (d) analyzing data, (e) interpreting findings, and (f) reporting the results (Collins & Cooper, 2014).

I did not have a working relationship with the study participants. Therefore, relationships with the participants consisted of networking experiences with the business owners. The researcher is responsible for fostering the relationship between researcher and participant to consist of mutual respect and trustworthiness. The role of the researcher as it relates to ethics is to ensure respect, beneficence, and justice to each of the participants (Eisner, 2017). In following *The Belmont Report*, when conducting studies using human subjects, researchers should apply basic ethical principles (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979).

The basic ethical principles researchers should apply include: (a) beneficence, (b) justice, and (c) respect. Beneficence involves eliminating exposure to unnecessary risks and respecting decisions made by participants. In this study, beneficence was ensured by fulfilling the wishes of all participants and not subjecting any participants to undue risks or burdens. Justice consists of treating everyone fairly and ethically. To help safeguard justice, the fair and ethical treatment of all participants was ensured throughout the study. Respect involves treating people with both appraisal and recognition (Wiedner & Mantere, 2019). To ensure the principle of respect, concern and appreciation was shown for the values and efforts of each participant.

Both researchers and participants can be privy to a personal worldview or bias in research (Fusch & Ness, 2015). To identify the risk of bias, it is important to determine its potential sources (Rossetto, 2014). The researcher must work to mitigate risk as much as possible (Morse, 2015b). Researchers should not choose participants with whom they

have an existing relationship to mitigate bias risk (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Rather than reflecting a personal perspective or bias, researchers must mitigate personal bias and demonstrate that the data accurately represent the responses of study participants (Cope, 2014). Researchers need to reduce the risk of personal perceptions by including research that relates to the situation (Holloway & Galvin, 2016). Without following a process of self-discovery to unearth emotions and biases, a researcher may inadvertently distort data collection and analysis (Tufford & Newman, 2010). I worked to identify sources of bias and, to mitigate the risk of bias, I did not choose participants with whom there was an existing relationship. It is important to minimize the risk of personal bias.

In completing interpretations and analyses of data, I actively used the participants' responses rather than personal presuppositions. Mitigation of the effects of personal beliefs and values may be possible by applying the bracketing method (Tufford & Newman, 2010). The bracketing method is a way to minimize the threat of potentially damaging effects of unacknowledged preconceptions on qualitative research projects (Tufford & Newman, 2010). One way to use bracketing is for the researcher to explore feelings about the research endeavor through the writing of memos that include observational comments and notes on both the cognitive and the procedural aspects of the research project (Tufford & Newman, 2010). Another form of bracketing is to maintain a reflexive journal regarding thought processes, assumptions, and values (Tufford & Newman, 2010). By following the bracketing method, the researcher may be able to set aside personal biases and pursue a process of self-discovery to enrich data collection, research findings, and interpretation (Tufford & Newman, 2010). Instead of including my

perspective as the researcher, the threat of any personal biases was mitigated in this study by following the bracketing process of keeping detailed memos and regularly updating a reflexive journal to maintain self-awareness of any personal preconceptions.

Researchers should follow an interview protocol to maintain proper consistency during the interviews (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I used an interview protocol in this study to maintain consistency and as a procedural guide before, during, and after the interviews (see Appendix). Interview protocols are useful to replicate studies and increase the trustworthiness of data (Yin, 2018). The interview protocol was followed to mitigate the threat of any possible personal biases and worldviews from the research process.

Participants

Vining et al. (2014) discussed the scientific importance of describing the criterion for participants of interest. Participant selection is an essential portion of the research process (Bourke, 2009). The goal of having research study participants is to obtain useful knowledge that is otherwise unobtainable (Bromley et al., 2015). Eligible participants were only those business owners who (a) have been and continue to be located in Northern Illinois, (b) have had a successful business for at least 5 years, (c) have been involved in the financial decision-making of a small business, and (d) were at least 18 years of age.

To gain access to participants, a researcher must first locate and identify potential eligible organizations to work with (Peticca-Harris et al., 2016). A researcher must be willing to use a variety of methods and be prepared to deviate from the original plan to gain access to participants (Kondowe & Booyens, 2014). To find eligible organizations, it

can be helpful to review the business-networking site LinkedIn (Bunn et al., 2014). Using the professional networking site LinkedIn, I joined networking groups that aligned with the research topic. Researchers can aid recruiting efforts by sharing professional interests with study participants (Peticca-Harris et al., 2016).

To aid the research process, researchers must develop a solid rapport with the initial contacts in the organization in attempts to gain access to business leaders (Crowhurst, 2013). Researchers may be able to identify potential study participants by using the snowball method by networking and building rapport with initial participants (Heckathorn & Cameron, 2017). Integral to helping participants comprehend individual roles in the study, the researcher must provide a framework for participation (Davidson & Page, 2012). I emailed each participant the purpose of the study, the potential benefits and risks of the research, and the reassurance of complete compliance to ethics and confidentiality for anyone taking part in the study. The SBOs who responded favorably to participation received an informed consent form via email.

Seldom do researchers effectively recruit participants via a single contact (Miller, 2017). Researchers can develop a rapport with study participants by attempting to enhance the comfort level of participants (Swider et al., 2016). Some researchers may call, email, or conduct interviews with business owners as a formal approach to request study participation. In this study, I built rapport with potential study participants by disclosing that I have over 10 years of experience working with small businesses. In attempts to continue to build a working relationship long-term with the study participants,

I checked in with each participant through emails or phone calls to further explain the research process as required and answer any questions participants may have.

Research Method and Design

Researchers need to address the problem of the study by choosing the most suitable research method and design for that specific problem (Lewis, 2015). The qualitative research method is most used in the study of management (Mukhopadhyay & Gupta, 2014). To efficiently collect and analyze data in the study, I used the qualitative research method to explore the research question.

Research Method

I used the qualitative method to explore financial strategies SBOs used to be successful beyond 5 years in Northern Illinois. The qualitative research method is a useful approach when the researcher is interested in learning more about the perspectives and experiences of study participants to explore a phenomenon (Yin, 2018). Furthermore, the foundation of the qualitative method showcases the ideal framework to outline and communicate the results of the study (Yin, 2014). Open-ended questions involved in semistructured interviews associated with the qualitative method allow for a more thorough examination of the business leader (Bosch et al., 2016). Interpreting data from interviews in qualitative studies help to shed light on answering fundamental questions (Bailey, 2014).

The quantitative research method was not suitable for this study. Researchers who use quantitative methods and qualitative methods utilize varying research procedures of inquiry, processes, and research strategies (Yilmaz, 2013). Quantitative methods are

suitable for studies where numerical data analysis using statistical approaches is necessary (Rissman & Gillon, 2017). For example, the quantitative researcher may be interested in exploring whether a relationship exists between an independent and dependent variable in a given population (Stake, 2013). When testing a hypothesis or theory, the statistical approaches involved in quantitative research may be suitable (Rissman & Gillon, 2017). As the purpose of this research was not to test a hypothesis or a theory, the quantitative research method was not appropriate for this study.

Researchers use the mixed methods approach to combine qualitative and quantitative components to answer complex research questions (Povee & Roberts, 2013). Researchers can attempt to answer research questions fully via mixed methods studies, as mixed methods researchers use a combination of qualitative as well as quantitative methods (Johnson, 2015). As numbers do not provide insights into human dynamics (Stake, 2013), the mixed methods approach was not appropriate for this study because of the additional quantitative component. The qualitative research method was most suitable for this study because the research was concerned with understanding the experiences and perspectives of participants to explore a phenomenon.

Research Design

Multiple case studies may enable a researcher to explain events in context (Yin, 2018). To explain events in context, a multiple case study was used for this research. The multiple case study design was appropriate for this research because I sought to explore the knowledge and skills that small-scale managers used to make sound financial decisions to achieve business success and sustainability. Researchers should use case

study methods to procure knowledge from study participants (Yilmaz & Cagiltay, 2016). Crowe et al. (2011) suggested that the multiple case study design is often suitable for business research as it permits researchers to take knowledge obtainable from real-life events to a deeper level. DeLyser and Sui (2014) claimed that case study researchers could gain insight into experiences, emotions, and additional in-depth knowledge beyond the words that study participants use in interviews.

Researchers must collect data relevant to the study (Eisner, 2017). I considered three designs for the study: (a) phenomenology, (b) ethnography, and (c) case study. Researchers use phenomenological designs to achieve a profound understanding of the phenomenon under study (Yin, 2017). Researchers applying phenomenological design often seek to understand the lived experiences of individuals from a personal point of view (Guetterman, 2015), which was not the purpose of this study. When researchers are studying the relationship between study participants and their environments, the use of phenomenological design may be appropriate (Hemme at al., 2016). Tight (2016) suggested that the meaning derived from the environment in a phenomenological design can be integral in a research study as well.

The other qualitative research methods that were considered in this study were ethnography and case study. Ethnographic researchers observe the interactions of a given population in its natural setting (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Researchers conduct ethnographic research to obtain insights from a cultural experience perspective (Yin, 2017). Ethnographic studies involve the descriptions of the cultural distinctions between living conditions, beliefs, or even behaviors (Floersch et al., 2014). An ethnographic

study did not serve the purpose of this study because the practices of individuals, organizations, groups, and communities in their natural habitat was not the focus of this study.

Though obtaining in-depth information is necessary to complete a research study, data saturation contributes to the reliability of the results. To obtain high-quality data in a research study, achieving data saturation is essential (Creswell & Poth, 2017). In some research studies, sample size is determined by a sufficient number of data points (Fusch & Ness, 2015). In qualitative research, data saturation has been reached when there are no new repeated themes (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Once there are no new detectable patterns or themes through further gathering of data, a researcher may deem to have reached data saturation (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Once the qualitative researcher reaches data saturation in the data collection process, it may be time to cease all gathering of information (Ball et al., 2016). Upon completing multiple interviews, once no new repeated themes or patterns occurred from the information provided from such interviews, it was assumed that data saturation was reached in this study. Upon this stage of data saturation, where information began to repeat during the data collection process, the interview process was stopped.

Population and Sampling

Researchers must choose a sampling method that is appropriate for the study.

Researchers use contextually rich data in qualitative studies to investigate a phenomenon in a real-world setting (Barratt et al., 2011). Purposeful sampling may help researchers increase the credibility of a study (Valerio et al., 2016). By efficiently collecting data

from a small group of participants, researchers may be able to use the purposeful sampling method to accurately represent a larger population (Kunyk et al., 2016). Researchers conduct purposeful sampling in attempts to locate participants who may be able to provide data to help answer the research question (Kunyk et al., 2016). Researchers often have the goal of using purposeful sampling to secure the amount of data required (Marais & Van Wyk, 2014). Applying purposeful sampling may help researchers balance the goal of data saturation with the amount of time and additional resources required to achieve it (Iqbal et al., 2017). Therefore, participants were chosen via the purposeful sampling method to explore the financial strategies that small business leaders use to ensure business sustainability beyond 5 years.

When performing a qualitative study, researchers first decide on the size of the sample required (Robinson, 2014). The sample size represents the number of participants in the study (Robinson, 2014). An inverse relationship between sample size and deepness of observations may exist in multiple case studies (Barratt et al., 2011). Figuring out a valid sample size of the population involves data collection from potential participants who have the right characteristics for the study (Khan, 2014). The standard sample size does not apply to qualitative multiple case studies (Yin, 2018). Sample sizes should not be so large that the data risks becoming unnecessary and futile, but large enough to ensure that the researcher can derive all significant details (Mason, 2010). Case study designs can be comprised of three to 16 study participants (Robinson, 2014). In a limited-scope case study, it is optimal to have a sample size of three to five participants (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Based on previous research that has been successful, there was a

target sample size of five SBOs in Northern Illinois who have shown business sustainability by staying in business for at least 5 years.

Though researchers first decide on the targeted size of the sample (Robinson, 2014), there is not a fixed sample size that guarantees data saturation in a qualitative study. Achieving data saturation matters more than the number of participants (Marais & Van Wyk, 2014). A researcher needs to have the goal of reaching data saturation when designing a research study (Varpio et al., 2017). Researchers reach data saturation once there is only redundancy and repetitions being offered in the interview data (Savage et al., 2016). Conducting in-depth, semistructured interviews with five business owners was vital to gain insight into detailed patterns and themes that emerged from the analysis of the interview data. After completing a round of interviews, researchers can derive information from the responses of the participants (Cleary et al., 2014). Signaled by redundancy in the data, researchers need to collect data until data saturation has been reached (Yin, 2018). If using five participants was not sufficient to reach data saturation, I would have interviewed additional business owners until no new information was obtainable. My strategy in this study was to conduct additional interviews with new participants until there was no new information forthcoming, which depicted the achievement of data saturation.

It is important to ensure privacy for the interview (Mneimneh et al., 2015). The workplace of the participant or an alternative setting that is free from distraction are potential settings for each interview (Marais & Van Wyk, 2014). The presence of people who are not part of the study in the nearby vicinity can make participants uncomfortable,

which may affect the discussion that may have been had given proper privacy (Edwards & Holland, 2013). Though it is important to maintain privacy and minimize distractions in any interview setting, due to Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) guidelines mandating remote interviews due to COVID-19, the interview setting was over the Zoom® video conferencing software in this study.

Ethical Research

Researchers must obtain IRB approval prior to starting data collection (Fiske & Hauser, 2014). The first step in the informed consent process in this research was to secure Walden University IRB approval for the study. Researchers must provide full disclosure of the nature of the study to participants to enable participants to make educated decisions on the potential risks and benefits of the study (Partridge & Allman, 2016). Upon obtaining IRB approval, researchers can request completion of consent forms from participants (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2014).

Researchers can receive informed consent by giving participants full and pertinent study information to make an informed decision (Dal-Ré et al., 2017). To confirm consent to the study, once a full review of the emailed consent form was complete, each participant needed to reply to said email with the words "I consent". Upon verification that each participant adequately meets study criteria, participation in the study was confirmed by providing a copy of the consent form for their records.

In a research study, participants should have the right to withdraw from the study at any time (Thorpe, 2014). Researchers should notify study participants of their right of withdrawal without repercussions from the study in the informed consent form (Gordon

& Prohaska, 2006). Participants were made aware of the right to withdraw from the study via the informed consent form. Participants were informed that the notification of the choice to withdraw from the study at any time or stage could be in the form of written or verbal communication; that is, by email or telephone, respectively.

Researchers should select participants based on the purpose of the study, not manipulability (Ross et al., 2018). Though it is under ethical consideration, researchers can provide incentives to study participants (Martha et al., 2017). As study participation should minimize the chance of undue inducement or coercion, financial incentives could weaken the impartiality of the participants (Resnik, 2015). Because financial incentives may weaken participant impartiality, study participants were not given any incentives through reimbursement or compensation for participating in the study.

Ethics is necessary for researchers (Wallace & Sheldon, 2015). Because study participants may encounter some degree of risk and harm, ethical protection of such participants is critical (Wallace & Sheldon, 2015). To ensure the privacy and security of the data of each participant, researchers must take adequate measures (Check et al., 2014). Researchers can assure confidentiality by providing a given location and amount of time for data storage (Ludvigsson et al., 2015). Confidentiality was assured by providing a given location and amount of time for data storage for all electronic, recorded, and written data.

Most chairs will provide written assurance to participants that certifies the confidentiality of any personal information (Check et al., 2014). To safeguard the identity of each participant, each participant was assigned a number, such as SBO1, SBO2,

SBO3, SBO4, and SBO5. To ensure compliance regarding respect, autonomy, and confidentiality for all participants, I received the appropriate approval from the IRB at Walden University (#04-23-21-0603063). The IRB requirements at Walden University included storing study data and subsequently destroying that data through programmed deletion for computer files and incineration for paper files after 5 years from the official completion date of the study. To fully comply with the IRB requirements, participant information and data were stored securely in a master file on a personal computer and the data are being backed up with a cloud storage service with password protection.

Additionally, I have had and will continue to have sole access to these data and will destroy all data through programmed deletion for computer files and incineration for paper files after 5 years.

Data Collection Instruments

In a qualitative research study, the researcher is the primary data collection instrument (Yin, 2018). In addition to interviews, it may be prudent to have additional data sources, such as organizational reports and observations (O'Cathain et al., 2016). In qualitative studies, a researcher uses a variety of ways to collect data, such as (a) examining company and archival documents, (b) focus groups, as well as (c) informal, semistructured, or phenomenological in-depth interviews (Pampoulou, 2016).

I was the primary data collection instrument in this qualitative research study. It is an important role of the primary data collection instrument to provide clear and meaningful data, such as through journals and second interviews for clarification purposes (Pampoulou, 2016). My role as the data collection instrument was to be the

researcher. Using the interview protocol (see Appendix), in-depth interviews were conducted and subsequently analyzed. In addition, the qualitative researcher should focus on finding the meaning behind descriptive data rather than specific variables (Tavakol & Sandars, 2014). As the primary data collection instrument, I focused on the deeper meaning of the descriptive data instead of focusing on any single variable.

Creating a detailed and descriptive analysis through the utilization of proper data collection instruments produces a higher degree of validity and reliability in the results of a study (Raziyeh & Sudabeh, 2017). The member checking approach can strengthen the validity and reliability of the study upon the completion of interviews (Yin, 2018). The researcher can confirm data through member checking (Khan et al., 2016). Member checking is a way to increase participant engagement during data analysis (Iivari, 2018). Through the use of the member checking method, participants were given time to review the interpretation to provide any feedback, which thereby served to increase validity and reliability. Participants were also provided with ample time to provide any feedback prior to using the data for the final study interpretation and analysis.

Data triangulation can also help ensure the collected data are valid. To ensure the validity of the study, researchers can follow the data triangulation process, which involves reviewing different sources (Varpio et al., 2017). In qualitative case studies, data collection should not only come from interviews, but from additional sources, such as questionnaires, focus groups, documents, and observations as well (Yin, 2018). Phone or video conference interviews, publicly-available data, and industry reports and small business reports from credible sources, such as the SBA, were reviewed to triangulate the

data collected to ensure reliability and validity. Data collection continued until repetitions and redundancies occurred in the data from the participants' interview responses. It was not until this point, whereby additional interviews had nothing new to add to the data, that it was deemed that data saturation had been reached.

Data Collection Technique

To understand a phenomenon, data collection is the practice of collecting information from study participants and should come from multiple sources (Yin, 2018). Sources for data collection include documents, focus groups, interviews, observations, and questionnaires (Birt et al., 2016). Through the careful exploration of a known current event, a researcher can develop an analysis for a qualitative case study, using interviews and document reviews as part of the data collection technique (Anderson et al., 2014). Different sources can enhance the quality of the study (Varpio et al., 2017). Researchers can aim to have a richer understanding of a topic via the use of interviews in the process (Gelderman et al., 2015). As the primary source, the first technique used for data collection was phone or video conference interviews. A secondary source for data collection was the review of publicly-available data and reports on small businesses. As the researcher, I collected data via phone or video conference interviews with each study participant as a primary data source. For data triangulation, I additionally reviewed publicly-available data and reports on small business as a secondary source.

Prior to the interview phase, a participant consents to taking part in the study (Peters et al., 2014). When a participant agrees, the researcher arranges a meeting with the participant to ensure the participant fully understands the procedure (McDermid et al.,

2014). The researcher must ensure the utmost comfort of each participant during the phone or video conference interview portion of the study (Brayda & Boyce, 2014). Using the qualitative method for the interview phase, where the researcher may proceed through a template of semistructured questions, may provide the flexibility to ask follow-up questions based on participant responses (Brown & Danaher, 2019). The researcher may be able to procure additional data points by having built-in flexibility throughout the interview (Baskarada, 2014). In qualitative studies, the researcher often digitally records the participants to later transcribe such responses for use in the study (O'Cathain et al., 2016). The primary source of data was one-on-one interviews held virtually over Zoom® video conferencing software with SBOs. The interview protocol was followed: (a) select and contact potential study participants; (b) set up the interviews at a mutually-agreeable time; (c) introduce the interviews by stating the purpose of the study, obtaining verbal consent, and providing a consent form via email; (d) use the Zoom® video conferencing software record feature as well as a Sony® Mono Digital Voice Recorder as a backup device to initiate the recorded interview within the time constraint; and (e) ask nine interview questions regarding the financial strategies the business leader used to ensure business sustainability beyond 5 years (see Appendix).

A researcher may be able to secure a thorough inquiry by acquiring an awareness of both the advantages as well as disadvantages of a given qualitative study (McDermid et al., 2014). An advantage of the data collection technique involves the use of documentation. In addition to interviews, researchers can develop an analysis for a qualitative case study with document reviews (Anderson et al., 2014). Archived

documents, artifacts, interviews, and observation are common methods of data collection (Yin, 2018). Following a process that combines different sources can help ensure the validity of the study (Varpio et al., 2017). Researchers can develop consistency in the study by comparing interview responses with various sources (Gelderman et al., 2015). As researchers aim to have a richer understanding of the research topic, the collected data were also compared with the information available on both governmental and local websites.

Using the interview process in the data collection technique in this study also has disadvantages. The first disadvantage of the interview process is that bias can ensue if the relationship becomes a friendship (Brayda & Boyce, 2014). The second disadvantage with the interview process is the ability for varying cultural interpretations of a given word to lead to different perceptions of its meaning (Brayda & Boyce, 2014).

The researcher can use member checking to ensure the precision and validity of the data. During the member checking analysis, the researcher can use a recursive process in attempts to achieve an accurate and consistent outcome in the data collection stage (Lenz & Lancaster, 2017). In qualitative studies, researchers using member checking can increase the credibility of the study (Birt et al., 2016). To ensure the accuracy of the interpretation of the interview, following the member checking strategy is appropriate (Thomas, 2017). Upon completion of the interviews, as the researcher in this study, I analyzed the results and triangulated the data. Once I completed the analysis of the results and subsequent data triangulation, I followed the process of member checking of data

analysis and researcher interpretation, whereby each participant was requested to review the interpretation and was given the time and opportunity to provide any feedback.

Data Organization Technique

Researchers can preserve the accuracy of the data by using proper data organization (Yin, 2018). Forms of data organization techniques include data categorization, data cleaning, and data storage (Paulus & Bennett, 2017). Researchers can keep journals to keep track of dates, observations, interview conversations, and additional important details (Witts, 2016). At the beginning of the study, researchers keep an audit trail by using a journal to help keep track of data collection, the chosen research method, and data analysis (Morse & McEvoy, 2014). As it was deemed helpful for reference purposes moving forward, a journal was kept of all pertinent details throughout the research process. To help preserve privacy for study participants, researchers can change the names of the participants in the data (Saunders et al., 2015). To preserve privacy, each participant was labeled by SBO1, SBO2, SBO3, SBO4, and SBO5, respectively. As part of the labeling process, all supporting documentation was catalogued by the identification code of each participant. For data collection, an audio recorder should be used for interviews (Moloczij et al., 2017). In addition to the Zoom® video conferencing software record feature, a Sony® Mono Digital Voice Recorder, handwritten notes, and Microsoft® Office programs, such as Microsoft® Excel and Microsoft® Word, were used throughout the data collection process to aid in data organization.

Protecting the study information with a strong password and destroying it completely afterwards is a method for the researcher to safely store participant

University included storing study data and subsequently destroying that data through programmed deletion for computer files and incineration for paper files after 5 years from the official completion date of the study. To fully comply with the IRB requirements, participant information and data are being stored securely in a master file on a personal computer and the data are being backed up with a cloud storage service with password protection. Additionally, I have had and will continue to have sole access to the data and, after 5 years from the official completion date of the study, I will destroy all data through programmed deletion for computer files and incineration of all study-related paper files.

Data Analysis

In qualitative case study analysis, researchers must apply empirical thinking to the evidence (Yin, 2018). Researchers can apply empirical thinking to case study evidence by using triangulation. Using data triangulation in case study analysis may decrease the amount of bias in the study (Joslin & Muller, 2016). The data source, investigator, method, and theory are the four main types of data triangulation (Carter et al., 2014). Methodological triangulation is using multiple data sources to verify research findings (Wilson, 2016). Researchers can cultivate rich, in-depth data through methodological triangulation, which is using multiple data sources (Raziyeh & Sudabeh, 2017). In this qualitative multiple case study, methodological triangulation was applied by having the primary source as the interviews and the secondary sources as information from governmental and other credible sources from the public domain, such as industry reports and information regarding small business and related trends from the SBA.

Data collection, data disassembly, data recombination, data review, and the creation of a conclusion are the five steps of data analysis (Yin, 2018). To have quality results, researchers need to utilize proper criteria when analyzing the data (Anney, 2014). Researchers can use many methods in qualitative studies (Raziyeh & Sudabeh, 2017). Data were collected through organizational documentation and personal interviews. Researchers may achieve a richer comprehension of the research problem and heighten academic performance by using a journal when collecting data (Cengiz et al., 2014). A journal was used to help reconstruct data, and I referred to it in the presentation of the findings.

Once data collection was completed, data were analyzed using methodological triangulation. Researchers need to take special care in protecting confidentiality when working with a smaller group of participants who have easily identifiable identities (Petrova et al., 2014). Instead of using the names of participants, it is important to maintain confidentiality by using coding identities (Petrova et al., 2014). For the safety and protection of all study participants, a coding system was used.

Instead of by hand, it may be easier for researchers to analyze data by using various computer programs. In a qualitative study, using a system to effectively examine themes, such as Microsoft® Excel, can help to manage the large amount of data (Olson et al., 2016). Microsoft® Excel was used to help code and manage the data. Another computer program researchers can use is the qualitative data analytical software program NVivo®, where researchers record the data on an audio recorder and then transcribe the data into the program (Zamawe, 2015). Transcribing into the NVivo® software can lead

to more effortless coding and organizing of data, while finding emerging themes (Zamawe, 2015). In addition to utilizing the Zoom® video conferencing software record feature, the entirety of each phone or video conference interview was recorded with a Sony® Digital audio recorder. Upon completion of each interview, the recording was transcribed with the qualitative data analytical software, NVivo®.

Researchers can reduce data mass by categorizing the results relating to the research question and not utilizing excess data (Dzekashu & McCollum, 2014). After successfully uploading the data into the NVivo® software, researchers can use the program to identify themes by the repetition of word identity throughout the data and can then review to ensure accuracy and diligence of the transcripts (Rushing & Powell, 2014). Having many options available for the purposes of data analysis, the NVivo® software was used to analyze the interview data.

Requiring a significant amount of effort by the researcher, researchers can examine themes, read and study theory, and then apply the concepts to the study by using the themes from the coding process (St. Pierre & Jackson, 2014). Upon commencement of the data collection process, researchers need to define what qualifies as data, as well as quality data, and how the data relates to the theories in the study (St. Pierre & Jackson, 2014). Researchers may be able to find potential relationships by noting themes and observations while collecting data (Van Dijk et al., 2015). To avoid deviation from the intended study, researchers need to ensure that any emergent themes are in alignment with the purpose of the study (Bogers et al., 2017). While reviewing prior studies and organizing this research, notes were taken to connect the themes to the conceptual

framework. The conceptual framework and research question relate to the skills that SBOs can utilize to sustain the business.

Reliability and Validity

To increase the degree of reliability and validity in a study, it is vital to apply the concepts of confirmability, credibility, dependability, and transferability (Plummer, 2017). Ensuring trustworthiness is crucial to have valid, reliable research (Morse, 2015b). Data derived from a researcher-participant relationship grounded in trust may be able to have more substance, which may increase study quality (Grossoehme, 2014). A consistent research process that involved semistructured interviews with member checking of data analysis and researcher interpretation was followed to ensure validity and reliability in the study.

Reliability

In a qualitative study, reliability is the level of which the researcher has addressed its dependability of the research (Bailey & Bailey, 2017). Dependability (in lieu of reliability) is the ability to have different researchers repeat the study process as the original researcher and achieve the same findings (Morse, 2015a). A researcher can achieve dependability by maintaining similar findings when using varying methods, such as the member checking approach (Grossoehme, 2014). Marshall and Rossman (2016) detailed how member checking involves confirming the interpretation of the recorded interview data with each participant and validating any emergent themes. While conducting the study, member checking was used to help ensure dependability in the

study. An interpretation of the data was emailed to each participant for their confirmation with ample time to provide any feedback or corrections.

To develop a thorough understanding of the topic, researchers can in addition, use triangulation, which involves the use of multiple sources of data (Varpio et al., 2017). Through the provision of support to the interview data, researchers can use multiple data sources to ensure the dependability of the results (Joslin & Muller, 2016). Multiple data sources, such as interviews and information available on both governmental and local websites, were used to help ensure the dependability of the study.

Validity

The validity of a study represents the degree to which the measured data represents the intended concept of the study (Fikkers et al., 2017). Researchers can develop the trustworthiness and integrity of a study through measures to increase credibility (Yin, 2018). Credibility is the process of verifying results by scrutinizing the data (Birt et al., 2016). Trustworthiness and credibility are of the upmost importance in confirming validity in the findings of any qualitative study (Anney, 2014). The use of credibility methods, such as member checking or triangulation, can create trustworthiness by enhancing the rigor of the study (Kornbluh, 2015). Researchers can begin to achieve credibility through the member checking approach (Grossoehme, 2014). The member checking method was employed to ensure validity in this study. Another strategy to achieve credibility is to have multiple sources in the study by using the triangulation method (Fusch & Ness, 2015). By using methodological triangulation, organizational documentation and interview data were reviewed to ensure the credibility of the study.

Transferability represents the ability to apply the results of a given study to different contexts (Saab et al., 2017). In qualitative studies, researchers can raise the degree of transferability by including a rich research description (Morse & McEvoy, 2014; Saab et al., 2017). When provided with a clear process, understandable results, and a full data description, researchers can check if the results from a given study can be applied to another context (Elo et al., 2014). There were detailed data collection and analysis descriptions, and the interview protocol (see Appendix) was followed. By using the detailed information provided in this study, researchers may be able to determine whether to apply this study to different situations in future research.

Confirmability is the ability for readers to support or confirm the results of a study (Ellis, 2019). Researchers can confirm the responses from participant interviews by using the coding system involved in the NVivo® qualitative data analytical software (Zamawe, 2015). Similarly, by using member checking to request study participants to examine the data and offer feedback, researchers can achieve confirmability through the mitigation of bias (Grossoehme, 2014). I worked to reduce bias by first coding in the NVivo® software, and then subsequently used member checking to help ensure the confirmability of the research.

In qualitative research, researchers must achieve data saturation. Failure to reach proper data saturation reduces the validity of the study (Marais, 2017). During data collection and analysis, researchers reach data saturation upon discovering redundant data (Cleary et al., 2014). Fusch and Ness (2015) noted that a researcher reaches data saturation upon finding no new themes in the data. Though it may have required multiple

rounds of interviews with the same participant, due diligence was exercised in applying the knowledge and insights from each study participant to help ensure data saturation in this study.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 included the purpose of this research, the role of the researcher, and the relevant factors in participant selection. I discussed the methodology and design rationale and appropriateness from the various options. I then provided a suitable research method for this qualitative multiple case study. Overall, Section 2 included a detailed introduction of population and sampling, ethical research, data collection, and data analysis. Section 2 also included steps and measures to ensure reliability and validity in the research.

In response to the research question, Section 3 has the presentation of findings. As these relate to the presentation of findings, Section 3 also includes the implications for social change, recommendations for action, and recommendations for further research. Following the recommendations for further research, Section 3 incorporates a reflection on my research experience within the DBA Doctoral Study process and provides an appropriate conclusion derived from the study findings.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the financial knowledge and skills some SBOs used to succeed beyond 5 years from business startup and establishment. Small businesses account for 47% of all jobs in the United States (Dilger, 2020). As small businesses contribute 50% to the gross domestic product (SBA, 2018), the impact of small businesses to the economy at large is invaluable. Some SBOs could generate positive social change through economic growth and improving the lives of customers, vendors, family members, communities, and government entities (Barnes & Westrenius, 2015),

Keeping a detailed journal throughout, data collection for this study involved virtual meetings using Zoom® video conferencing software with five SBOs in the Northern Illinois region who have used successful financial strategies for sustaining a small business for at least 5 years. The collected data were analyzed via thematic and descriptive analyses. Using member checking, I validated the collected data, and I confirmed the possible connection between the implementation of successful financial strategies and long-term sustainability in each small business in the study. Four themes emerged from the analyses: (a) human capital development, (b) management of financial risk, (c) network sustainability, and (d) the effective use of financial professionals. The results of the study are presented in the following section.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question which guided this study was:

RQ: What financial knowledge and skills do small business leaders use to succeed in business beyond 5 years?

The collected data from the semistructured interviews were analyzed to answer the research question. Upon completing the fifth interview, once no new repeated themes or patterns occurred from the information provided from such interviews, it was assumed that data saturation was reached in this study. Upon this stage of data saturation, where information began to repeat during the data collection process, the interview process was stopped. This research study had four major themes, which I related to the conceptual framework for the HCT.

Upon completion of the transcription and subsequent interpretation of each interview, I emailed a copy of the interpretation to each study participant. Once I received confirmation of the interpretation from each participant, I manually coded each response through the identification of recurring phrases, statements, and words. I confirmed the manual analysis using the software program NVivo® once the manual coding process was complete.

The conceptual framework used in this study was the HCT. Introduced by Becker in 1962, the HCT is a way to explore how education, knowledge, training, and skills can be core tenets in the advancement of business success (Wright et al., 2014). The HCT is a foundation for financial decision-making strategies that could be used by SBOs in various capacities, including organizational management, financial management, organizational leadership, and sustainability. To address the research question, I applied purposeful sampling to choose five SBOs who were involved in the financial decision making in

small businesses in the Northern Illinois area. Each participant had been an owner in their small business for at least 5 years and had demonstrated the use of effective financial strategies for long-term sustainability. Upon completion of the analyses, the following four themes were identified: (a) human capital development, (b) management of financial risk, (c) network sustainability, and (d) the effective use of financial professionals. Each of these four themes are analyzed and connected to the conceptual framework of this study in the following sections. To preserve privacy, each participant was labeled by SBO1, SBO2, SBO3, SBO4, and SBO5, respectively.

Theme 1: Human Capital Development

The first theme that was derived from this study was human capital development. Human capital represents the status of training, health, and education in the working population (Ficawoyi et al., 2021). One aspect of human capital development derived in this study represents the ability to seek and find information. SBO1 stated, "Continuing education and experience is important; you learn as you go in terms of bills, taxes, selling, et cetera, by being in the industry." SBO2 added, "I felt that I learned something new every day." The ability to seek and find information is integral to human capital development because abilities, knowledge, and skills that can aid employee performance are components of human capital (Adelowotan, 2021).

Another key aspect of human capital derived from this study is the importance of an SBO's adaptability to change. SBO5 shared, "It is important to keep an eye on the multitude of changing factors around you in your business. If you don't grow and you don't adapt, then you don't survive." Having employees who are adaptable to impending

change is an important part of human capital development because capital resides within the employees of an organization, not necessarily inside the organization itself (Sunwoo et al., 2021). SBO3 stated, "It's important to make sure you understand finance, both from books and literature, as well as being sure to keep up with what is happening in today's world." SBO4 added,

If you're not meeting your sales goals, you need to look at everything every month and see what needs to change; take a look at your budget. What did you spend money on? What needs to change? What are the specific percentages you should spend on marketing and advertising? And analyze whether it is all working the way it should.

The year 2020 was one of the most difficult years for small businesses (SBA, 2020b). In terms of making potential changes to the business plan, pivoting to an increased use of ecommerce, and offering more virtual services to consumers may have helped businesses succeed in this changing environment (SBA, 2020b). Human capital may be needed to make these changes effectively at an organization. Advancing human capital at an organization through knowledge, from both researched sources and experience in the field, may be integral to the success of small businesses in a changing environment.

One way to see that the findings confirm existing knowledge in the discipline is through a comparison of the theme of human capital development to other recent studies. Accessible educational services are critical for human capital development (Serafica et al., 2021), which is consistent with the findings of this study that furthering skills is important for the success of small businesses. Wesemann (2021) observed that a focus on

human capital development in an organization may have a positive impact on agency performance. The findings in this study are consistent with Wesemann's (2021) observation that human capital development may lead to businesses becoming more successful. Complementarity may exist between human capital development and economic growth (Tsaurai, 2021). The findings of this study can extend knowledge in the discipline by expanding the scope of studies that assess links between human capital development and financial development in other countries. For example, human capital development may be a key issue in some sub-Saharan African countries (Ho et al., 2021). Furthering research on human capital development on a multinational level may help policymakers gain updated information regarding financial development (Ho et al., 2021). Financial development may be linked to the development of human capital.

The theme of human capital development is related to the conceptual framework in this study, which is the HCT. The HCT is a way to explore how education, knowledge, skills, and training are core tenets in advancing the success of business (Wright et al., 2014). The importance of how to develop education, knowledge, skills, and training in an organization was found in this study. Other researchers highlighted the importance of human capital in their studies as well. For example, Park (2021) noted that a focus on the improvement of employees' general knowledge as well as specific knowledge may help to develop human capital in an organization. Wright and Constantin (2021) similarly stated that strategies for human resource management can contribute to increased worker productivity. Matching employees with complementary assets in their organizations may help to maximize productivity (Campbell et al., 2021). Exploring how education,

knowledge, skills, and training could be core tenets in advancing the success of small businesses may help SBOs be more likely to succeed after 5 years.

Effectively developing human capital was one of the major findings in this study. The existing literature on effective business practice also includes other studies where human capital applies to gender wage gaps. Greer and Carden (2021) stated that laws prohibiting discrimination against females in skills training and educational opportunities may be a way that human capital can be used to reduce gender wage gaps internationally. There are counseling and training resources available for existing and future female entrepreneurs through the Women's Business Centers (SBA, n.d.-c). Wolfson and Mathieu (2021) noted that human capital is a necessary component of organizational success. The effective management of high-performing employees may help generate general human capital in an organization (Morris et al., 2021).

Theme 2: Management of Financial Risk

The second theme that was derived from data collection in this study was management of financial risk. Concerning risk management, SBO5 shared, "Risk minimization is key. How likely is this deal going to come to fruition? Am I able to pay my bills if it doesn't?" One facet of financial risk management derived from this study represents dependable access to capital. SBA (2021b) reported that business ownership can represent 34% of non-financial assets, making small businesses a major source of wealth for families. SBO1 stated, "It takes time to become sustainable. You have to monitor your assets, cash flow, and profits. Every move you make should have the goal

of profitability in mind." The ability to have dependable access to capital could be critical to financial risk management for SBOs.

Another aspect of financial risk management is an SBO's ability to understand financial statements. Because of increased financial regulations, the cost of generating higher-quality financial statements has decreased (Boyle et al., 2021). SBO3 stated,

It's important to create a business plan, create financial goals (and write them out on the desk and read them twice daily), and make sure you have a plan to achieve those goals. If you don't have a plan to achieve those goals, they're not goals.

SBO5 added,

It is very helpful to have a solid grasp of the basics of financial documents before you start your business. If you don't, you can learn as you go, but taking the time to understand the basics of accounting and finance from the start can put you at a strategic advantage, especially if you are going to need funding from the bank.

Additionally, contemporary researchers are focusing on the expansion of the capabilities of software to transform the audit process for businesses (Salijeni, 2021). Financial risk-tolerance is a concept underlying financial decision-making (Peng, 2020). As for the current economic environment, the U.S. Census Bureau (2021) found that though the state of Illinois has been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic at about the same rate as the national average (23.1% and 23.0%, respectively), Northern Illinois (i.e., the Chicago-Naperville-Elgin, IL-IN-WI metropolitan statistical area) has seen a slightly larger (24.3%) negative effect than the national average (23.0%). Though many SBOs are still concerned about the future during the current COVID-19 pandemic, the confidence

of SBOs nationally has increased as of Quarter 2 of 2021 (CNBC, 2021). SBOs need to be financially prepared for these potential increased costs in labor and raw materials. SBO4 shared, "Always be marketing your business. Always be ready to talk to people, but you need good financial mechanisms put into place as well." There are resources available to find high-quality, individualized help with financial management through Small Business Development Centers (SBA, n.d.-b). Using high-quality financial statements and thoroughly understanding the content of such documents may be vital components to the management of financial risk for SBOs.

One way to see how the findings compare to existing knowledge in the discipline is by contrasting the financial risk management theme to other studies. Hitay and Anbar (2020) observed that a relationship may exist between both gender and income and their financial risk-tolerance levels, respectively. Fisher (2020) noted that net worth and nationality may be factors in financial risk-tolerance levels. The probability that families have business equity may increase as net worth increases (SBA, 2021). Though thorough investigations of gender and nationality were not included in the purpose of this study, attempting to develop a further understanding of how one's income or net worth may be a factor in personal financial risk-tolerance levels may be prudent for SBOs. As financial institutions have experienced higher volatility in financial markets due to the recent global financial crises (Agnese et al., 2021), one way the importance of the financial risk management finding of this study can extend knowledge in the discipline is by underscoring the need for understanding financial statements. Many contemporary leaders of auditing services are focusing on how to develop effective audit technologies

(Salijeni, 2021). It is the finding of this study and many other recent studies that understanding how to manage financial risk may be important to help ensure the success of small businesses

The theme of management of financial risk is related to the conceptual framework of the HCT in this study. As the HCT is one way to explore how education, skills, knowledge, and training are core tenets in advancing business success (Wright et al., 2014), knowledge of financial risk management is integral to human capital. As OJT and advanced education are key concepts in the HCT (Becker, 1962), both financial measures as well as the recognition of intellectual capital of an organization are important in reviews of organizations (Pap et al., 2021). Similarly, higher earnings are a key concept of the HCT (Becker, 1962), and revenue maximization has been shown to have a potential link with managerial ability in a firm (Krishnan et al., 2021). Though potentially difficult to measure, human capital investments in training may be related to a positive financial return for the firm (Daniali & Mohammadbeigi, 2020), which may lead to higher earnings. Though precise gains can be difficult to measure, investments in human capital may produce a positive return in an organization. The finding that managing financial risk could be important to business success is consistent with the key concept of the HCT regarding higher earnings.

The existing literature on effective business practice includes information on assessing risk. As one major finding in this study is the importance of effectively managing financial risk, it is important to note that Duncan (2021) stated that enterprise-wide risk assessments can be very important for SBOs. The knowledge of the importance

of enterprise-wide risk assessments may lead to SBOs having an increased likelihood to conduct such assessments. Effectively managing risk may increase the likelihood that SBOs use succession planning, which may positively relate to the financial performance of their business (Mihaylov & Zurbruegg, 2021). Though many non-public companies are exempt from audits (Nyambuya et al., 2021), maintaining detailed and accurate records may help business leaders better understand their financial position.

Theme 3: Network Sustainability

The third theme derived from data collection involves having a sustainable network. One characteristic of a sustainable network obtained in this study is the ability to develop a positive reputation. As brand advertising may be linked to brand performance (Choi, 2019), marketing effectively may be necessary in the creation of a sustainable network. SBO2 stated,

By joining local boards and charities, I gained a plethora of experience through first-hand involvement with issues they came across over time. I learned a lot about how to run my business from helping these groups continue to be successful. Additionally, as networking is key, all of the connections you've made in the world may end up being instrumental in your success. Having a long-term vision is also key. Every relationship is a potential opportunity, so build trusting relationships, as they likely lead to potentially better relationships in the future.

Any acquaintance an SBO has may either be a potential client, or may know someone who could be a potential client. Some consumers may view advertising as being untrustworthy due to its nature of perceived self-interest for the seller (Bell et al., 2020);

however, different methods can be used to market your business aside from advertising. With the current changing environment due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Forbes (2021) stated that retaining customers in an uncertain economy is essential.

The same-side network effect is the capturing of the interplay in each customer market (Hinz et al., 2020). As previously noted, the recommendation of one client may lead to the subsequent acquisition of another customer. Therefore, as an alternative to traditional advertising, Hinz et al. (2020) observed that understanding the same-side network effects may be helpful in supporting growth predictions and marketing investment decisions. SBO1 stated, "I joined chambers, business and networking organizations, and was active in the local community as a business owner. Networking is key, as I knew every business can be a new client." Developing a positive reputation in an SBO's customer population may be fundamental to the creation of a sustainable network in some markets.

An alternative view of network sustainability may provide a rationale for the effective use of mentors. SBO3 stated, "Make sure you have good credit and understand what you are getting into; there is a lot of sacrifice to be made. If possible, find a good mentor to guide you." In addition to having a marketable product or service, mentors may be able to help business owners understand what else they may need to know and do to help their business become sustainable. However, SBOs may need to have a goal of mentorship becoming an important part of the culture for it to be effective (Hieker & Rushby, 2020). SBO4 added,

Putting key people in place made everything so much better. As the business owner, your best place is to sell; that's who you are. Business owners in the beginning don't really understand that; you know what you do, but you don't know you need to know everything else about running a business as well. You need mentors and key people to be put in place to help you.

Involving knowledgeable mentors in their network may help SBOs become more sustainable. To help foster small business communities, there are free mentoring resources available by experts in entrepreneurship for financing, human resources, and business planning available for all SBOs (SBA, n.d.-a). Similarly, in discussing the benefits of a networking group with other small business leaders, SBO5 shared, "I leaned on the leaders and other business owners in this group heavily for invaluable information and advice, which helped me become successful." Therefore, finding valuable mentors can be an asset in developing a sustainable network for a small business. In turn, as mentorship may provide value to existing mentors (Ayoobzadeh & Boies, 2020), experience gained as a mentor may enable some SBOs to help others become more sustainable as well.

To see if the findings can confirm existing knowledge in the discipline, one can compare the concept of network sustainability derived in this study to existing research in the field. For example, a potential conclusion from this study is that reputation is very important in the creation of a sustainable network. However, in a different study, the authors noted that brand popularity may be more meaningful in certain contexts than brand reputation (Chu et al., 2020). Therefore, it may be important for SBOs to note that

the context may matter in deciding how to market a given brand. Similarly, in another study, the researchers noted that reputable organizations might only have a 50% chance of being trusted (Turkel et al., 2021). Though reputation matters, other endogenous factors may be relevant in a given market. Furthermore, the findings of this study can extend knowledge in the discipline by accounting for the different types of advertising that exist in contemporary markets. In one example, consumers provided higher ratings for entertainment in advertising in social networks (Falcao, 2020). However, Falcao (2020) noted evidence of consumers giving higher ratings for interactivity when viewing advertising via search engines. Multiple factors may affect the creation of a sustainable network. As the environment is evolving due to the current state of the COVID-19 pandemics, business owners may want to expand offerings to stay current and relevant (Forbes, 2021).

The creation of a sustainable network can be compared to the conceptual framework of the HCT in this study. Kontesa et al. (2020) noted that networking is a strategic human capital resource. In addition to trust, the strength of entrepreneurial networking relationships may be linked to human capital, such as knowledge, skills, and networking (Omar et al., 2020). Social capital and business ties may be contributing factors to the potential benefit derived from human capital in an organization (Liu et al., 2020). As strong networking relationships may relate to human capital, it is important to study how creating a sustainable network may enable SBOs to become more sustainable.

The significance of effectively developing a sustainable network is a key result of this study. The existing literature on effective business practice includes a comparison of entrepreneurship from an immigration point of view. In a study on immigration and entrepreneurship, the authors noted that though many immigrants start businesses in their host countries, the nascent entrepreneurs may benefit from skills that may be shared via participation in a local network (Pessoa de Queiroz Falcao et al., 2020). Additionally, the ability to share skills and resources to attract competent applicants when hiring in an organization is important (Rad et al., 2019). As a link may exist between education level and wage (Carmichael et al., 2021), the understanding of how formal education could differ from cognitive skills may influence the hiring practices of small businesses.

Theme 4: Effective Use of Financial Professionals

The final theme derived from the analysis of data collected in this study is the effective use of financial professionals, such as bankers, investors, accountants, lawyers, and financial advisors. A major aspect of utilizing financial professionals effectively involves the development and maintenance of robust banking relationships. Shun et al. (2020) observed that some individuals may invest differently with bankers than they would otherwise. Investors who work with bankers may be more likely to pursue a higher degree of diversification in their portfolios (Shun et al., 2020). SBO1 stated,

Cash is important. You might need a loan or a revolving line of credit to be able to grow, but that might not be the only financial solution. Consider investors, personal loans, et cetera; you might even end up with an unlikely source, so be open to it.

Working together with bankers may help SBOs secure funding of which they may not have been aware or had perceived to be unattainable. SBO2 stated, "Things happen, so

you need to be prepared for when they do; deals don't go through, financing doesn't come through, the environment changes." Working closely with a banker may help SBOs have financing setup in preparation for both expected and unexpected changes in the business environment. Forbes (2021) stated that it may be important for businesses to be flexible and able to pivot on their strategies to be prepared for changing environments. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic was an unexpected change for many SBOs. Though the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) ended in May of 2021 (SBA, 2021a), knowing how to be creative in finding loan resources might be helpful preparation for unexpected changes in the business environment (Forbes, 2021).

A similar aspect of the effective use of financial professionals involves working directly with trusted financial advisors, lawyers, and accountants. In discussing the helpfulness of accounting firms, SBO5 shared, "Even if you do know accounting, it is better to have someone else do it." Smith and Sweet (2021) observed that financial advisors may be able to help motivate and lead their clients in the ways most important to them. Additionally, financial planners may be able to help their clients further understand their own financial needs (Avila & Avila, 2021). In the assessment of the effectiveness of their financial knowledge and skills for sustaining their business beyond 5 years, SBO3 shared.

I think I did a pretty good job; I was finally able to take checks and have now been in business 27 years and counting! Now everything is structured, budgeted and runs smoothly; I have grown a lot as an effective financial manager. People skills are important and hiring the right people in your firm and outside of your firm, such as accountants, is very important.

SBO4 added,

No matter how skilled you are, you can still make mistakes. It's common that small business owners have a great idea for their business, but do not have an understanding that they need all of these support people behind them. You need a bookkeeper, a financial advisor, a CPA, et cetera., and a mentor. You cannot be afraid to ask for help. Many business owners fail because they don't seek out key financial people.

Developing and maintaining strong banking relationships and learning how to effectively use financial professionals, such as lawyers, accountants, financial advisors, and risk managers, may be helpful in sustaining a small business beyond 5 years.

Comparing the theme of the effective use of financial professionals to existing literature is a way to see that the findings confirm existing knowledge in the discipline. Financial planners may be able to provide value to their clients in many ways (Kelly et al., 2021). Though many financial planners may focus on higher-income earners, both lower-income earners as well as moderate-income earners also may benefit by working with financial planners (Tacchino, 2020). Individuals who work with financial planners and bankers may be more likely to invest differently than those who choose not to use such services (Shin et al., 2020). The decision to work with financial professionals may positively affect SBOs personally as well as professionally.

The theme of the effective use of financial professionals relates to the HCT conceptual framework in this study. Human capital may be related to wealth generation for many individuals, especially at younger ages (Timmerman & Volkov, 2021). Clients who work with financial professionals may be able to acquire knowledge and skills that may enable them to make better financial decisions (Smith & Sweet, 2021). It is important to note that bias may exist in the judgement of the worthiness of financial professionals, including with women in the financial services field. Women in the financial services field may be judged to be less skillful than men, even with equivalent credentials (Baeckstrom et al., 2021). As bias may exist in the worthiness of some financial professionals, the attainment of an accurate valuation of human capital could be difficult.

The potential impact of effectively using financial professionals was emphasized in the findings of this study. The existing literature on effective business practice includes how financial advisors may be able to help individuals make better investment decisions (Shin et al., 2020). As wealth can be measured by estimating the dollar value of both financial assets and real assets (Timmerman & Volkov, 2021), it may be helpful for SBOs to know how to identify the key differences between the two types. Financial assets include items such as cash, stocks, and bonds, while real assets include items such as real estate and private businesses (Timmerman & Volkov, 2021). Financial advisors may be able to use their knowledge and skills to help clients develop better financial habits (Smith & Sweet, 2021). SBOs who know how to effectively use financial

professionals may be more likely to make better financial decisions, and in turn help create a more sustainable business.

Applications to Professional Practice

As job resources may be able to stimulate development and growth (Cooke et al., 2019), it is important for SBOs to achieve a balance between resources and demands (Helzer & Kim, 2019). Though resources can be limited in small business, it is important to use them wisely, such as by investing in human capital, as identified in this study. Zheng et al. (2016) noted that upskilling employees may lead to a higher probability for success. Providing strategies for workers to be better able to meet the demands of their occupation may lead to increased profits for the firm (Moss, 2019); the profits of which likely resulted from an increase in performance, motivation, and well-being for employees (Lattrich & Buttgen, 2020).

One of the findings in the study was for SBOs to be prepared for change. Al-Ali et al. (2019) noted the importance of SBOs utilizing dynamic scenario planning to be prepared for changing environments. Often, the one-size-fits-all methodology is ineffective (Zheng et al., 2016). It is recommended that leaders utilize data-based decision making (Schleicher et al., 2019). Cheng et al. (2021) observed that networking may relate to increased returns for firms. As success may relate to referrals in some markets (Haman, 2020), understanding the importance of networking, as well as how to network effectively, has the potential to aid SBOs. Working closely with financial professionals may help some individuals make better financial decisions (Smith & Sweet,

2021). Therefore, SBOs who employ financial skills in an effective manner may be more likely to lead sustainable businesses.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the possibility of SBOs having a better understanding of effective financial strategies for small business sustainability. A deeper comprehension of successful financial strategies may help SBOs take actions that could result in positive outcomes for the employees, the organization, and the community. Income, risk management, access to credit, and education may affect financial development, which may be related to the improvement of health outcomes (Chireshe & Ocran, 2020). The use of financial professionals may lead to individuals making higher-quality decisions with their investments (Shin et al., 2020), which may be associated with improved outcomes, both personally as well as professionally. As many financial advisors have reported experiencing difficulties with motivating their clients to develop proper budgeting strategies (Smith & Sweet, 2021), understanding the impact financial professionals can have on their clients may inspire SBOs to foster better relationships with their financial advisors, which may help to develop better financial strategies for their businesses. Applying effective financial strategies may lead to a higher degree of profitability, which could cause SBOs to be more likely to invest in CSR initiatives. Investing in CSR initiatives could support various community-wide programs, including the collection and provision of food and clothing to those in need, the development of more-effective recycling programs, and the creation as well as maintenance of parks and recreation areas. Through an increased involvement in the

community, SBOs can utilize their resources to heighten awareness of the needs of the local community and become a model to other organizations in creating a shared initiative to help the community thrive.

Recommendations for Action

The central focus of this study was to provide guidance regarding sustainability for entrepreneurs by examining the financial strategies used by SBOs who sustained their small businesses beyond a timeframe of 5 years. Both existing as well as nascent SBOs may be more likely to lead sustainable businesses by having a thorough understanding of the financial strategies that other entrepreneurs deemed successful. The findings of this study included four key themes for sustainability: (a) human capital development, (b) management of financial risk, (c) network sustainability, and (d) the effective use of financial professionals.

Centered on the findings of this study, the first recommendation for action is to have a focus on human capital development. In an organization, human capital can be developed through the attraction and advancement of skilled employees. A step to ensure the usefulness of this action is to create a plan for the continued pursuit and discovery of information for both managers and employees in the organization.

The next recommendation derived from the results of this study is to ensure financial risks are effectively managed throughout the organization. To manage financial risk, one recommendation is to practice financial discipline. A step to take to ensure the usefulness of this goal would be to create a comprehensive financial plan. This plan

should include detailed ways to limit financial exposure, make prudent investment decisions, have dependable access to capital, and maintain appropriate financial reserves.

The third recommendation from this study's results is to develop a sustainable network. To create a sustainable network in an organization, a suggestion for SBOs is to develop a comprehensive marketing plan. To ensure the usefulness of this action, steps to follow in the creation of a comprehensive marketing plan include utilizing cross-selling opportunities, advertising effectively, and focusing on creating a positive reputation.

The final recommendation is to use financial professionals effectively. To make an effective use of financial professionals, it is important to identify which professionals are necessary for the individual needs of the firm and to develop relationships with qualified individuals. To ensure the usefulness of this action, SBOs may wish to consider lawyers, accountants, risk managers, treasury managers, investment managers, IT managers, insurance agents, bankers, and other similar professionals. The development and maintenance of strong relationships with financial professionals may be important, especially with those who directly relate to the banking needs of the organization.

Researchers should pay attention to the results of this study because the findings may aid their own understanding of financial strategies used in small business.

Subsequently, the findings from this study may serve as useful literature for future research. Additionally, it is important for both current business owners and future entrepreneurs to pay attention to the results of this study in comparison to their financial strategies, both for alignment purposes and to generate ideas for the enhancement of future sustainability initiatives. Finally, business mentors and investors may find the

results of this study helpful in providing information to both seasoned and rising business owners. Publishing this study will allow the results to be disseminated via the available databases for researchers to utilize as needed. The study could also be discussed at small business conferences, potentially providing thought-provoking ideas, a furthered understanding of the concepts discussed, and a basis for subsequent research. Providing the information to mentorship organizations and venture capitalists may help provide access to the educational resources that may be able to aid the creation of business plans for future entrepreneurs as well as existing business owners with the goal of sustainability in mind.

Recommendations for Further Research

The role financial instruments play in financial risk management may be understudied (Phua et al., 2021). One way to manage risk management efficiency levels is through the data envelopment analysis (DEA) approach (Zakaria, 2017). Using DEA to measure risk management efficiency levels, the first recommendation for further research would be to investigate whether the use of financial instruments, such as derivatives, has an influence on the management of financial risk in small businesses. Another recommendation for further research includes assessing how gender may be a factor in terms of marketing on social media. For example, in one study, women were observed to have more homogeneous networks than men (Blommaert et al., 2020). As aging may be related to financial dynamics (Migliaccio, 2021), it may be prudent to study how family businesses have different relationships with financial professionals over time and perhaps how that affects business sustainability in future research as well.

The first limitation identified in this study was that of researcher bias in qualitative research studies. Researchers should mitigate risk as much as possible (Morse, 2015b). As the completion of successful interviews with business leaders may be a challenge (Liang & Liu, 2018), the limitation of bias in this study can be addressed in future research by continued dedication to risk mitigation. Researchers must mitigate personal bias and demonstrate that the data accurately represent the response of study participants, rather than reflecting a personal bias or perspective (Cope, 2014). Another limitation identified in this study was the potential for narrowed depth and richness through the sole inclusion of SBOs as study participants. This limitation can be addressed in future research through the inclusion of study participants from medium or large businesses. The final limitation identified in this study was that the findings may reflect the perceptions and experiences of this sample only, which was in Northern Illinois. A researcher might be able to address this limitation by repeating this study in a different geographic or socioeconomic location.

Reflections

Though at times my experience within the DBA doctoral study process has been challenging, it has also been incredibly worthwhile. Having begun the program in 2015, prior to marriage and the birth of our first child, the completion of this degree through multiple life changes is an accomplishment for which I will be forever grateful. During this time, I not only acquired better time management skills, but I also advanced my research and writing skills, especially with the help of my trusted advisor and the friendly employees at the Walden Writing Center.

Throughout this study, I also had to learn how to mitigate bias, especially potential personal biases. A possible personal bias within this process is related to the threat of confirmation bias. Confirmation bias represents the tendency to seek evidence that will confirm the preconceptions of oneself (Nickerson, 1998). Having completed graduate school for business and economics prior to starting my DBA, I had many ideas on what I thought was important (or likewise unimportant) in terms of why some businesses succeed while others fail. Other preconceived ideas and values during this process include any value judgments that I may have placed on a certain type of business or a given industry. As the researcher, possible effects I may have had on the participants included a potential for my own thoughts and perceptions to be evident in my narratives regarding the interviews. Possible effects I may have had on the situation as the researcher included illustrating certain types of results to support personal beliefs instead of conclusions from the data. Changes to my thinking as a researcher upon completion of the study included seeing many of these strategies, concepts, and businesses through the guise of the data, instead of the confirmation of personal ideas and preconceptions.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the financial knowledge and skills some SBOs used to succeed in business beyond 5 years. Data were collected using semistructured interviews from five SBOs from Northern Illinois who have been successful for at least 5 years. I asked 9 open-ended questions to gain financial knowledge and skills from SBOs who have achieved business sustainability beyond 5 years in Northern Illinois. The results of this study aligned wholly with its conceptual

framework, which was the HCT. Introduced in the book *Human Capital* by Becker in 1962, the HCT is a route of exploration into how knowledge, skills, training, and education are core tenets in advancing business success (Wright et al., 2014).

Organizational leaders may consider knowledge and skills of employees as a capital investment (Schultz, 1971). Profitability possibly correlates with skills in successful small businesses (Michaelis & Markham, 2017). The acquisition of useful knowledge and skills by SBOs may help them to be more profitable, which may help their businesses become more sustainable.

The overall message that emerged from the study was the importance of constant development and maintenance of both human capital and financial capital within the organization. Four central themes were identified in this study: (a) human capital development, (b) management of financial risk, (c) network sustainability, and (d) the effective use of financial professionals. The results of this study have the potential to provide ideas and guidance for nascent and veteran SBOs and increase the basal level of knowledge in the existing literature. Small business leaders can use the financial strategies outlined in this study in efforts to improve organizational profitability, which may lead to the implementation of policies supporting the long-term sustainability of the organization.

References

- Adelowotan, M. O. (2021). The usefulness of human capital disclosures: Perspectives of human resource managers. *African Journal of Business and Economic Research*, 16(1), 331-360. https://doi.org/10.31920/1750-4562-2021/v16n1a15
- Afzal, S., Arshad, M., Saleem, S., & Farooq, O. (2019). The impact of perceived supervisor support on employees' turnover intention and task performance:

 Mediation of self-efficacy. *Journal of Management Development*, 38(5), 369-382.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-03-2019-0076
- Agnese, P., & Capuano, P. (2021). The culture of risk governance in financial institutions. *Journal of Risk Management in Financial Institutions*, 14(3), 301-313.
- Ajaz Khan, K., Cera, G., & Netek, V. (2019). Perception of the selected business environment aspects by service firms. *Journal of Tourism and Services*, *10*(19), 111-127. https://doi.org/10.29036/jots.v10i19.115
- Al-Ali, W., Ameen, A., Isaac, O., Khalifa, G. S., & Shibami, A. H. (2019). The mediating effect of job happiness on the relationship between job satisfaction and employee performance and turnover intentions: A case study on the oil and gas industry in the United Arab Emirates. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, 13(4), 103-116. https://doi.org/10.24052/JBRMR/V13IS04/ART-09
- Anderson, C. A., Leahy, M. J., DelValle, R., Sherman, S., & Tansey, T. N. (2014).

 Methodological application of multiple case study design using modified consensual qualitative research (CQR) analysis to identify best practices and

- organizational factors in the public rehabilitation program. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 41(2), 87-98. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-140709
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:

 Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Students*, 5(2), 272-281.
- Avila, S. M., & Avila, R. A. (2021). Enhancing financial planner productivity utilizing ADAPT questioning and select business-development strategies. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 75(4), 60-67.
- Awasthi, Y., & Mathur, H. P. (2017). Small and medium enterprises: Problems of entrepreneurs. *International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 8(4), 4-7.
- Ayoobzadeh, M., & Boies, K. (2020). From mentors to leaders: Leader development outcomes for mentors. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *35*(6), 497-511. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmp-10-2019-0591
- Bae, S., & Patterson, L. (2014). Comparison and implications of human capital theory at the individual, organization, and country levels. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications & Conflict, 18*(1), 11-28.
- Baeckstrom, Y., Marsh, I. W., & Silvester, J. (2021). Variations in investment advice provision: A study of financial advisors of millionaire investors. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 188, 716-735.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2021.05.008
- Bailey, C. A., & Bailey, C. R. (2017). A guide to qualitative field research. (3rd ed.).

- Sage Publications.
- Bailey, L. F. (2014). The origin and success of qualitative research. *International Journal of Market Research*, *56*(2), 167-184. https://doi.org/10.2501/IJMR-2014-013
- Ball, L., Davmor, R., Leveritt, M., Desbrow, B., Ehrlich, C., & Chaboyer, W. (2016).

 Understanding the nutrition care needs of patients newly diagnosed with Type 2

 Diabetes: A need for open communication and patient-focused consultations.

 Australian Journal of Primary Health, 22(5), 416-422.

 https://doi.org/10.1071/py15063
- Barbalet, J. (2017). Guanxi as social exchange: Emotions, power, and corruption. *Sociology*, 52(5), 934-949. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038517692511
- Barnes, L., & Westrenius, A. (2015). Managing complex business relationships: Small business and stakeholder. *Journal of Developing Areas*, 49(6), 481-488. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2015.0104
- Barratt, M., Choi, T., & Li, M. (2011). Qualitative case studies in operations management: Trends, research outcomes, and future research implications. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29(4), 329-342.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2010.06.002
- Baskarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *Qualitative Report*, 19(40), 1-25.
- Basol, R. O., & Demirkaya, H. (2017). The relationship between managerial satisfaction and job turnover intention: The mediating role of job satisfaction. *Management*, 12(3), 235-248. https://doi.org/10.26493/1854-4231.12.235-248
- Bassi, L. J., & McMurrer, D. P. (2008). Toward a human capital measurement. Advances

- *in Developing Human Resources, 10*(6), 863-881. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422308325611
- Becker, G. (1962). Investment in human capital: A theoretical analysis. *Journal of Political Economy*, 70(5), 9-49. https://doi.org/10.1086/258724
- Becker, G. (1993). *Human capital: A theoretical and empirical analysis, with special reference to education* (3rd ed.). University of Chicago Press.
- Becker, G. S., Komiers, S. D., Murphy, K. M., & Spenkuch, J. L. (2018). A theory of intergenerational mobility. *Journal of Political Economy*, 126(s1), S7-S25. https://doi.org/10.1086/698759
- Begzadeh, S., & Nedaei, M. (2017). The relationship between servant leadership with organizational trust and employee empowerment in the social security organization of Ardabil. *International Journal of Management, Accounting & Economics*, 4(3), 270-281.
- Bell, R., Mieth, L., & Buchner, A. (2020). Source memory for advertisements: The roe of advertising message credibility. *Memory & Cognition*, 49(1), 32-45. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13421-020-01075-9
- Berlanda, S., Pedrazza, M., Trifiletti, E., & Fraizzoli, M. (2017). Dissatisfaction in child welfare and its role in predicting self-efficacy and satisfaction at work: A mixed-method research. *BioMed Research International*, 2017(5), 1-12.

 https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5249619
- Bhuller, M., Mogstad, M., & Salvanes, K. G. (2017). Life-cycle earnings, education premiums, and internal rates of return. *Journal of Labor Economics*, *37*(4), 993-

- 1030. https://doi.org/10.1086/692509
- Birt, L. L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blommaert, L., Meuleman, R., Leenheer, S., & Butkevica, A. (2020). The gender gap in job authority: Do social network resources matter? *Acta Sociologica*, *63*(4), 381-399. https://doi.org/10.1177/0001699319847504
- Bogers, M., Zoebel, A. K., Afuah, A., Almirall, E., Brunswicker, S., Dahlander, L., & Hagedoorn, J. (2017). The open innovation research landscape: Established perspectives and emerging themes across different levels of analysis. *Industry and Innovation*, 24(1), 8-40. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2817865
- Booth, A., Sutton, A., & Papaioannou, D. (2016). Systematic approaches to a successful literature review (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Bosch, M., Tavender, E. J., Brennan, S. E., Knott, J., Gruen, R. L., & Green, S. E. (2016). The many organizational factors relevant to planning change in emergency care departments: A qualitative study to inform a cluster randomized controlled trial aiming to improve the management of patients with mild traumatic brain injuries. *PLOS One*, 11(2), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0148091
- Bourke, M. J. (2009). Making every colonoscopy count: Ensuring quality in endoscopy.

 Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 24(s3), 43-50.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2009.06070.x
- Boyle, E. S., Lewis-Western, M. F., & Seidel, T. A. (2021). Do quarterly and annual

- financial statements reflect similar financial statement error in the post-SOX era? *Journal of Financial Reporting*, 6(1), 1-31. https://doi.org/10.2308/JFR-2020-003
- Brayda, W. C., & Boyce, T. D. (2014). So you really want to interview me? Navigating "sensitive" qualitative research interviewing. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 13(1), 318-334. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691401300115
- Bremen, J. M., Delves, D., & Levanat, A. D. (2020). Purpose, human capital profits: Five factors to drive enduring shareholder value. *Directors & Boards*, *44*(2), 34-38.
- Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). From subject to participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research.

 American Journal of Public Health, 105(5), 900-908.

 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302403
- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2019). CHE principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semi-structured interviews in educational research. *International Journal of Research and Method in Education*, 42(1), 75-90. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2017.1379987
- Bunn, F., Burn, A. M., Goodman, C., Rait, G., Norton, S., Robinson, L., Schoeman, J., & Brayne, C. (2014). Comorbidity and dementia: A scoping review of the literature.

 BMC Medicine, 12(192), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-014-0192-4
- Business Networking International. (2020). About us. https://www.bni.com/about
- Buys, L., Mengersen, K., Johnson, S., van Buuren, N., & Chauvin, A. (2014). Creating a sustainability scorecard as a predictive tool for measuring the complex social, economic and environmental impacts of industries, a case study: Assessing the

- viability and sustainability of the dairy industry. *Journal of Environmental Management, 133*(1), 184-192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.12.013
- Campbell, B. A., Di Lorenzo, F., & Tartari, V. (2021). Employer-employee matching and complementary assets: The role of cross-organization collaborations. *Academy of Management Journal*, 64(3), 799-823. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2019.0207
- Campbell, J. M., & Parks, J. (2017). Extending the resource-based view: Effects of strategic orientation toward community on small business performance. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 34(1), 302-308.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.01.013
- Carmichael, F., Darko, C., & Kanji, S. (2021). Wage effects of educational mismatch and job search in Ghana and Kenya. *Education Economics*, 29(4), 359-378. https://doi.org/10.1080/09645292.2021.1900790
- Carpenter, D. (2017). Intellectual and physical shared workspace: Professional learning communities and the collaborative culture. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 32(1). https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-05-2017-0104
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(5), 545-547. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811-831.
- Cayak, S., & Cetin, M. (2018). Sustainable leadership scale: Validity and reliability study. *Electronic Turkish Studies*, *13*(11).

https://doi.org/10.7827/turkishstudies.13703

- Cengiz, C., Karatas, F. O., & Yadigaroglu, M. (2014). The investigation of pre-service science teachers' reflective journals. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 116(21), 3297-3302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.751
- Chand, O., & Parmar, K. K. (2018). Strategic analysis of constraints in micro, small and medium enterprises financing by banks. *International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 9(3), 4-7.
- Check, D. K., Wolf, L. E., Dame, L. A., & Beskow, L. M. (2014). Certificates of confidentiality and informed consent: Perspectives of IRB chairs and institutional legal counsel. *IRB: Ethics and Human Research*, *36*(1), 1-8.
- Cheng, L. T. W., Sharma, P., Shen, J., & Ng, A. C. C. (2021). Exploring the dark side of third-party certification effect in B2B relationships: A professional financial services perspective. *Journal of Business Research*, 127, 123-136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.busres.2021.01.031
- Chireshe, J., & Ocran, M. (2020). Financial development and health outcomes in sub-Saharan African countries. *Journal of Developing Areas*, *54*(3), 145-159. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2020.0030
- Cho, Y., Rutherford, B. N., Friend, S. B., Hamwi, G. A., & Park, J. (2017). The role of emotions on frontline employee turnover intentions. *Journal of Marketing Theory* & *Practice*, 25(1), 57-68. https://doi.org/10.1080/10696679.2016.1235960
- Cho, Y. J., & Song, H. J. (2017). Determinants of turnover intention of social workers:

 Effects of emotional labor and organizational trust. *Public Personnel*

- Management, 46(1), 41-65. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026017696395
- Choi, K. (2019). Divisional advertising efficiency in the consumer car purchase funnel: A network DEA approach. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 71(9), 1411-1425. https://doi.org/10.1080/01605682.2019.1609886
- Choy, L. T. (2014). The strengths and weaknesses of research methodology: Comparison and complimentary between qualitative and quantitative approaches. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *19*(4), 99-104. https://doi.org/10.9790/0837-194399104
- Chu, X., Yezheng, L., Chen, X., & Ling, H. (2020). Whose and what content matters?

 Consumers' liking behavior toward advertisements in microblogs. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 21(4), 252-276.
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70(3), 473-475. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12163
- CNBC. (2021). *CNBC* | *SurveyMonkey small business index Q2 2021*. https://surveymonkey.com/curiosity/cnbc-small-business-q2-2021/
- Coetzee, M. (2018). Career development and organizational support. *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Business and Management*.

 https://doi.org/10.1093.acrefore/9780190224851.013.168
- Coetzee, M., & van Dyk, J. (2018). Workplace bullying and turnover intention: Exploring work engagement as a potential mediator. *Psychological Reports*, *121*(2), 375-392. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294117725073

- Collins, C. S., & Cooper, J. E. (2014). Emotional intelligence and the qualitative researcher. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*(1), 88-103. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691401300134
- Cooke, D. K., Brant, K. K., & Woods, J. M. (2019). The role of public service motivation in employee work engagement: A test of the job demands-resources model.

 International Journal of Public Administration, 42(9), 765-775.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2018.1517265
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1), 89-91. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method approaches* (5th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2017). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Sage Publications.
- Crowe, S., Cresswell, K., Robertson, A., Huby, G., Avery, A., & Sheikh, A. (2011). The case study approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11(1), 100-108. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-11-100
- Crowhurst, I. (2013). The fallacy of the instrumental gate? Contextualising the process of gaining access through gatekeepers. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 16(6), 463-475. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2013.823282
- Dal-Ré, R., Carcas, A. J., Carné, X., & Wendler, D. (2017). Patients' beliefs regarding informed consent for low-risk pragmatic trials. *BMC Medical Research*

- *Methodology*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0424-3
- Daniali, S. M., & Mohammadbeigi, K. F. (2020). Knowledge management in the field of risk management in a corporate environment, Iran's oil industry. *Management*, 8(2), 63-73. https://doi.org/10.26425/2309-3633-2020-2-63-73
- Davidson, P., & Page, K. (2012). Research participation as work: Comparing the perspectives of researchers and economically marginalized populations. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(7), 1254-1259.

 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300418
- DeLyser, D., & Sui, D. (2014). Crossing the qualitative-quantitative chasm III: Enduring methods, open geography, participatory research, and the fourth paradigm.

 Progress in Human Geography, 38(2), 294-307.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132513479291
- Dilger, R. J. (2020). Small Business Administration and job creation [Congressional Research Service: Report No. 7-5700].

 https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc820993/
- Dockterman, D., & Weber, C. (2017). Does stressing performance goals lead to too much, well, stress? *Phi Delta Kappan*, 98(6), 31-34. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721717696475
- Duncan, P. (2021). A methodology for enterprise-wide risk assessment in small banks and credit union. *Journal of Money Laundering Control*, *24*(2), 372-393. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMLC-08-2020-0098
- Dvorsky, J., Petrakova, Z., & Polah, J. (2019). Assessing the market, financial, and

- economic risk sources by Czech and Slovak SMEs. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Knowledge*, 7(2), 30-40. https://doi.org/10.12345-0008
- Dzekashu, W. G., & McCollum, W. R. (2014). A quality approach to tacit knowledge capture: Effective practice to achieving operational excellence. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology, 13*(1), 52-63. https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2014.13.1.04
- Ede, S. (2016). The real circular economy: How relocalising production with not-for-profit business models helps build resilient and prosperous societies. Commons Transition. https://commonstransition.org/the-real-circular-economy/
- Edwards, R., & Holland, J. (2013). What is qualitative interviewing? Research methods series. Bloomsbury Academic.
- Eisner, E. W. (2017). The enlightened eye: Qualitative inquiry and the enhancement of educational practice. Teachers College Press.
- Ellis, P. (2019). The language of research (part 20): Understanding the quality of a qualitative paper (2). *Wounds UK*, 15(1), 110-111.
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M, Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open, 4*(1), 2-10.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633
- Epstein, M. J., & Buhovac, A. R. (2015). *Making sustainability work: Best practices in managing and measuring corporate social, environmental, and economic impacts*. Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Etuk, R. U., Etuk, G. R., & Baghebo, M. (2014). Small and medium scale enterprises

- (SMEs) and Nigeria's economic development. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, *5*(7), 656-662. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n7p656
- Falcao, J. (2020). Perceptions and attitude toward advertising on social networks and search engines: A comparative analysis. *Journal of Internet Commerce*, *19*(4), 404-436. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332861.2020.1816325
- Fernandez-Ardevol, M., Sawchuck, K., & Grenier, L. (2017). Maintaining connections.

 Nordicom Review, 38(s1), 39-51. https://doi.org/10.1515/nor-2017-0396
- Ficawoyi, D., Pradhan, G., & Basnet, H. C. (2021). Human capital expenditure and income in developing countries. *Journal of Developing Areas*, *55*(3), 113-128. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2021.0055
- Fikkers, K. M., Piotrowski, J. T., & Valkenburg, P. M. (2017). Assessing the reliability and validity of television and game violence exposure measures. *Communication Research*, 44(1), 117-143. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215573863
- Fisher, P. (2020). Financial risk tolerance among white and Hispanic households. *Journal of Personal Finance*, 19(1), 33-47.
- Fiske, S. T., & Hauser, R. M. (2014). Protecting human research participants in the age of big data. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(38), 13675-13676. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1414626111
- Floersch, J., Longhofer, J., & Suskewicz, J. (2014). The use of ethnography in social work research. *Qualitative Social Work, 13*(1), 3-7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325013510985
- Forbes. (2021). Small business trends you need to know about for 2021.

- https://www.forbes.com/sites/theyec/2021/02/08/small-business-trends-you-need-to-know-about-for-2021/
- Frederiksen, A. (2017). Job satisfaction and employee turnover: A firm-level perspective.

 *German Journal of Human Resource Management, 31(2), 132-161.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2397002216683885
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416.
- Gabriel, A., Bitsch, V., & Menrad, K. (2016). Conceptual framework for system analysis of family-run agricultural enterprises. *Journal of Small Business & Entrepreneurship*, 28(4), 325-344. https://doi.org/10.1080/08276331.2016.1205914
- Garavan, T., Watson, S., Carbery, R., & O'Brien, F. (2016). The antecedents of leadership development practices in SMEs: The influence of HRM strategy and practice. *International Small Business Journal*, *34*(6), 870-890. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242615594215
- Garney, W. R., Wendel, M., McLeroy, K., Alaniz, A., Cunningham, G., Castle, B.,
 Ingram, M., & Burdine, J. (2017). Using a community health development
 framework to increase community capacity: A multiple case study. *Family & Community Health*, 40(1), 18-23. https://doi.org/10.1097/fch.0000000000000135
- Geue, P. E. (2018). Positive practices in the workplace: Impact on team climate, work engagement, and task performance. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *54*(3), 272-301. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886318773459

- Gelderman, C., Semeijn, J., & Bruijn, A. (2015). Dynamics of service definitions-An explorative case study of the purchasing process of professional ICT-services.

 Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 21(3), 1-8.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2015.04.004
- Geraudel, M., Gast, J., & Gundolf, K. (2017). New product and service launching in new ventures: A multilevel approach to innovation antecedents. *Economics of Innovation & New Technology*, 26(4), 353-367.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10438599.2016.1202623
- Gherghina, S. C., & Simionescu, L. N. (2015). Does entrepreneurship and corporate social responsibility act as catalyst towards firm performance and brand value? *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 7(4), 23-34.

 https://doi.org/10.5539/ijef.v7n4p23
- Ghosh, R., Haynes, R. K., & Kram, K. E. (2013). Developmental networks at work:

 Holding environments for leader development. *Career Development International*, 18(3), 232-256. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-09-2012-0084
- Ginting, Y. M. (2020). Intellectual capital investigation in achieving sustainable competitive advantages in the creative industry: Does the mediation of knowledge management system affect? *Journal of Management Information and Decision Sciences*, 23(2), 111-126. https://www.abacademies.org/articles/Intellectual-capital-investigation-in-achieving-sustainable-competitive-advantages-in-the-creative-industry-does-the-mediation-of-knowledge-management-system-affect-1532-5806-23-2-185.pdf

- Gittins, T., & Fink, M. (2015). Return migration, informal learning, human capital development and SME internationalization in the CEE region: A systematic literature review. *Journal of East European Management Studies*, 20(3), 279-303. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.2454.4486
- Gordon, E. J., & Prohaska, T. R. (2006). The ethics of withdrawal from study participation. *Accountability in Research: Policies & Quality Assurances, 13*(4), 285-309. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989620600848645
- Greer, T. W., & Carden, L. L. (2021). Exploring the gender wage gap among project managers: A multi-national analysis of human capital and national policies.

 International Journal of Project Management, 39(1), 21-31.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iljproman.2020.09.004
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Research methodology overview of qualitative research.

 Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy, 20(3), 109-122.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2014.925660
- Guetterman, T. C. (2015). The development, design, and test of a self-assessment instrument of mixed methods research proficiency (Publication No. 3707829)

 [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Gunasekaran, A., Irani, Z., Choy, K. L., Filippi, L., & Papadopoulos, T. (2015).

 Performance measures and metrics in outsourcing decisions: A review for research and applications. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 161(C), 153-166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.12.021

- Hahn, T., Pinkse, J., Preuss, L., & Figge, F. (2015). Tensions in corporate sustainability:

 Towards an integrative framework. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *127*(2), 297-316.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-014-2047-5
- Hallberg, L. (2013). Quality criteria and generalization of results from qualitative studies. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 8(1),

 20647-20650. https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v8i0.20647
- Haman, D. (2020). Fee-only advisors and insurance agents—Perfect together. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 74(1), 28-31.
- Hao, B., Feng, Y., & Jiangfeng, Y. (2017). Building interfirm leadership: A relational identity perspective. *European Management Journal*, 35(5), 651-662. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2017.03.010
- Healy, J. J., & Mac Con Iomaire, M. (2018). Calculating restaurant failure rates using longitudinal census data. *Journal of Culinary Science & Technology*, 17(4), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2018.1459999
- Hechavarria, D., Bullough, A., Brush, C., & Edelman, L. (2019). High-growth women's entrepreneurship: Fueling social and economic development. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *57*(1), 5-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12503
- Heckathorn, D. D., & Cameron, C. J. (2017). Network sampling: From snowball and multiplicity to respondent-driven sampling. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *43*(1), 101-119. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-060116-053556
- Heirs, C. (2016). Small aviation business success strategies for profitability (Publication No. 1898798004) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest

- Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Helzer, E. G., & Kim, S. H. (2019). Creativity for workplace well-being. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 33(2), 134-147. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2016.0141
- Hemme, F., Morais, D. G., Bowers, M. T., & Todd, J. S. (2016). Extending sport-based entrepreneurship theory through phenomenological inquiry. *Sport Management Review*, 20(1), 92-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2016.07.005
- Herciu, M. (2017). Financing small businesses: From venture capital to crowdfunding. Studies in Business and Economics, 12(2), 63-69. https://doi.org/10.1515sbe-2017-0022
- Hieker, C., & Rushby, M. (2020). Key success factors in implementing sustainable mentor programmes in large organisations. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring, 18*(2), 197-208. https://doi.org/10.24384/sx88-eh86
- Hinz, O., Otter, T., & Skiera, B. (2020). Estimating network effects in two-sided markets.
 Journal of Management Information Systems, 37(1), 12-38.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/0741222.2019.1705509
- Hitay, K., & Anbar, A. (2020). The effect of personality traits on financial risk tolerance:

 An investigation on university students. *Journal of Accounting & Finance*, 87,

 203-223. https://doi.org/10.25095/mufad.756296
- Holloway, D. E., & Schaefer, T. (2014). Practitioner perspectives on leadership in small business. *International Journal of the Academic Business World*, 8(2), 27-36.

- Holloway, I., & Galvin, K. (2016). *Qualitative research in nursing and healthcare* (4th ed.). Wiley & Sons.
- Iqbal, S., Zakar, R., Zakar, M. Z., & Fischer, F. (2017). Perceptions of adolescents' sexual and reproductive health and rights: A cross-sectional study in Lahore District, Pakistan. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 17(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-017-0113-7
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice. *Information Technology & People*, 31(1), 111-133. https://doi.org/10.1108/itp-07-2016-0168
- Johnson, J. S. (2015). Broadening the application of mixed methods in sales research. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, *35*(4), 334-345.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2015.1016953
- Johnson, O. (2019). General system theory and the use of process mining to improve care pathways. *Applied Interdisciplinary Theory in Health Informatics*, 263(1), 11-22. https://doi.org/10.3233/SHTI190107
- Joslin, R., & Muller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(6), 1043-1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Karadag, H. (2015). Financial management challenges in small and medium-sized enterprises: A strategic management approach. *Emerging Markets Journal*, *5*(1), 26-40. https://doi.org/10.5195/emaj.2015.67
- Kelly, A. M., Hershey, L. B., & Marsack-Topolewski, C. N. (2021). A 50-state review of guardianship laws: Specific concerns for special needs planning. *Journal of*

- Financial Service Professionals, 75(1), 59-79.
- Khan, A. A., Asher, A., Ahmad, A., Iqbal, S., & Khan, N. A. (2016). Frame factors for implementation of integrated curriculum in public sector medical college faculty's perspective. *Pakistan Armed Forces Medical Journal*, 66(6), 891-897.
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method: Grounded theory. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *9*(11), 224-233. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p224
- Kim, S. Y., & Fernandez, S. (2017). Employee empowerment and turnover intention in the U.S. federal bureaucracy. *American Review of Public Administration*, 47(1), 4-22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074015583712
- Klimczak, K. M., Machowiak, W., Staniec, I., & Shachmurove, Y. (2017). Collaboration and collaboration risk in small and middle-size technological enterprises.

 *Logforum, 13(2), 221-235. https://doi.org/10.17270/J.LOG.2017.2.9
- Kondowe, C., & Booyens, M. (2014). A student's experience of gaining access for qualitative research. *Social Work, 50*(1), 146-152. https://doi.org/10.15270/50-1-21
- Kontesa, M., Nichol, E. O., Bong, J., & Brahmana, R. K. (2020). Board capital and bank efficiency: Insight from Vietnam. *Business: Theory and Practice, 21*(2), 483-493. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2020.11238
- Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *12*(4), 397-414. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941

- Krishnan, G. V., Wang, C., & Yu, W. (2021). Do high ability managers mitigate litigation related to financial reporting? *Journal of Management Accounting Research*, 33(1), 171-196. https://doi.org/10.2308/jmar-18-034
- Kunyk, D., Craig-Broadwith, M., Morris, H., Diaz, R., Reisdorfer, E., & Wang, J. (2016).
 Employers' perceptions and attitudes toward the Canadian national standard on psychological health and safety in the workplace: A qualitative study.
 International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 44(1), 41-47.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2015.08.030
- Kurnat-Thoma, E., Ganger, M., Peterson, K., & Channell, L. (2017). Reducing annual hospital and registered nurse staff turnover: A 10-element onboarding program intervention. *SAGE Open Nursing*, *3*(1), 779-771.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2377960817697712
- Kurczewska, A., Doryn, W., & Wawrzyniak, D. (2020). An everlasting battle between theoretical knowledge and practical skills? The joint impact of education and professional experience on entrepreneurial success. *Entrepreneurial Business and Economics Review*, 8(2), 219-237. https://doi.org/10.15678/EBER.2020.080212
- Lampadarios, E. (2016). Critical challenges for SMEs: An empirical study in the UK chemical distribution industry. *Journal of Business Chemistry*, *13*(1), 17-32. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v11n7p67
- Lattrich, K.-K., & Buttgen, M. (2020). Project leaders' control resources and role overload as predictors of project success: Developing the jobs demands-resources model. *Business Research*, *13*(2), 767-788. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-020-000

00115-z

- Lee, S. J., Choi, Y. J., & Chae, H. (2017). The effects of personality traits on academic burnout in Korean medical students. *Integrative Medicine Research*, 6(2), 207-213. https://doi.org/10.1016/jimr.2017.03.005
- Leip, L. A., Stinchcomb, J., & Schiff, M. (2017). Job satisfaction and work-related stress:

 Results from a national survey of prison wardens. *Criminal Justice Review*, 42(4),

 400-410. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734016817699671
- Lenz, A. S., & Lancaster, C. (2017). A mixed-methods evaluation of intensive traumafocused programming. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 95(1), 24-34. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12114
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among 5 approaches.

 *Health Promotion Practice, 16(4), 473-475.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839915580941
- Liang, T., & Liu, Y. (2018). Research landscape of business intelligence and big data analytics: A bibliometrics study. *Expert Systems with Applications, 111*(30), 2-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2018.05.018
- Lie, R., & Witteveen, L. (2017). Visual informed consent: Informed consent without forms. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(1), 63-75. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1116835
- Lin, C., Wang, C. Y., Wang, C., & Jaw, B. (2017). The role of human capital management in organizational competitiveness. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 45(1), 81-92. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.5614

- Lin, J., & Nabergoj, A. S. (2014). A resource-based view of entrepreneurial creativity and its implications to entrepreneurship education. *Economic and Business Review*, *16*(2), 163-183.
- Liu, C., Chang, A. Y., & Fang, Y. (2020). Network activities as critical sources of creating capability and competitive advantage: The mediating role of innovation capability and human capital. *Management Decision*, *58*(3), 544-568. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-08
- Ludvigsson, J. F., Haberg, S. E., Knudsen, G. P., Lafolie, P., Zoega, H., Sarkkola, C., von Kraemer S., & Norgaard, M. (2015). Ethical aspects of registry-based research in the Nordic countries. *Clinical Epidemiology*, 7(1), 491-508.
 https://doi.org/10.2147/clep.s90589
- Lussier, R. N., & Corman, J. (2015). There are few differences between successful and failed small businesses. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 6(1), 21-34.
- Ma, F. (2015). A review of research methods in EFL education. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 5(3), 566-571. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0503.16
- Machi, L. A., & McEvoy, B. T. (2016). *The literature review: Six steps to success* (3rd ed.). Corwin.
- Mahoney, J. T., & Kor, Y. Y. (2015). Advancing the human capital perspective on value creation by joining capabilities and governance approaches. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 29(3), 296-308.

 https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2014.0151
- Makarius, E. E., Stevens, C. E., & Tenhiala, A. (2017). Tether or stepping stone? The

- relationship between perceived external reputation and collective voluntary turnover rates. *Organization Studies*, *38*(12), 1665-1686. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840617693269
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2015). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1753-1760. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444
- Marais, C., & Van Wyk, C. de W. (2014). Methodological reflection on the coconstruction of meaning within the South African domestic worker sector: Challenging the notion of "voicelessness". *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 5(20), 726-738. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n20p726
- Marais, L. (2017). Exploring leaders' strategies for employee engagement in the South

 African mining industry (Publication No. 1864788238). [Doctoral dissertation,

 Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Martha, A., Victor, D. D., Maan, I. A. C., Michelle, N. E., Dale, M. N., & Dennison, C.
 H. (2017). Participant retention practices in longitudinal clinical research studies with high retention rates. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 17(1), 1-10.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0310-z
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. *Forum: Qualitative Interviews*, 11(3), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-11.3.1428

- McDermid, F., Peters, K., Jackson, D., & Daly, J. (2014). Conducting qualitative research in the context of pre-existing peer and collegial relationships. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 28-33. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.21.5.28.e1232
- Melwani, R. (2018). Entrepreneurship development and economic development: A literature analysis. *Aweshkar*, *24*(1), 124-149.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Wiley & Sons.
- Michaelis, T., & Markham, S. (2017). Innovation training: Making innovation a core competency: A study of large companies shows that, although managers see human capital as central to innovation success, most aren't providing innovation training. *Research Technology Management*, 60(2), 36-42.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08956308.2017.1276387
- Migliaccio, J. N. (2021). Financial gerontology: Lessons—past, present, and future-Part 2. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 75(4), 21-26.
- Mihaylov, G., & Zurbruegg, R. (2021). The relationship between financial risk management and succession planning in family businesses. *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, 17(3), 438-454. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMF-12-2019-0466
- Mikkelson, A. C., Sloan, D., & Hesse, C. (2017). Relational communication messages and leadership styles in supervisor employee relationships. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *56*(4), 586-604. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488416687267

- Miller, T. (2017). Telling the difficult things: Creating spaces for disclosure, rapport and 'collusion' in qualitative interviews. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 61(1), 81-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2016.07.005
- Min, K. R., Ugaddan, R. G., & Park, S. M. (2017). Is the creative tendency affected by organizational leadership and employee empowerment? An empirical analysis of U.S. Federal Employees. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 40(2), 382-408. https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2016.1230503
- Mitchell, K. M., & Clark, A. M. (2018). Five steps to writing more engaging qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 17*(1), 1-3. http://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918757613
- Mneimneh, Z. M., Tourangeau, R., Pennell, B. E., Heeringa, S. G., & Elliot, M. R. (2015). Cultural variations in the effect of interview privacy and the need for social conformity on reporting sensitive information. *Journal of Official Statistics*, 31(4), 673-697. https://doi.org/10.1515/JOS-2015-0040
- Moloczij, N., Krishnasamy, M., Butow, P., Hack, T. F., Stafford, L., Jefford, M., & Schofield, P. (2017). Barriers and facilitations to the implementation of audiorecordings and question prompt lists in cancer care consultations: A qualitative study. *Patient Education and Counseling, 100*(6), 1083-1091.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2017.01.005
- Morris, S. S., Alvarez, S. A., & Barney, J. B. (2021). Dancing with the stars: The practical value of theory in managing star employees. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 35(2), 248-264. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2017.0223

- Morse, A. L., & McEvoy, C. D. (2014). Qualitative research in sport management: Case study as a methodological approach. *Qualitative Report*, 19(31), 1-13.
- Morse, J. M. (2015a). Analytic strategies and sample size. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(10), 1317-1318. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315602867
- Morse, J. M. (2015b). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*(9), 1212-1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501
- Moss, J. (2019). Burnout is about your workplace, not your people. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2019/12/burnout-is-about-your-workplace-not-your-people
- Mukhopadhyay, S., & Gupta, R. K. (2014). Survey of qualitative research methodology in strategy research and implication for Indian researchers. *Vision: The Journal of Business Perspective, 18*(2), 109-123. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262914528437
- Mulovic, A., Hunjet, A., & Kozina, G. (2015). Toward economic reward: Corporate social responsibility communication of SMEs. *Megatrend Review*, *12*(3), 215-229. https://doi.org/10.5937/megrev1503215m
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Nickerson, S. M. (1998). Confirmation bias: A ubiquitous phenomenon in many guises.

 *Review of General Psychology, 2(2), 175-220. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-

2680.2.2.175

- Nickson, L., & Henriksen, R. (2014). Leaders and recruiters from the next generation: A phenomenological study. *Qualitative Report*, 19(35), 1-13.
- Nyambuya, K., Yasseen, Y., & Faeeza, S. (2021). Barriers to the adoption of independent reviews by nonpublic interest entities in South Africa. *African Journal of Business & Economic Research*, 16(2), 185-206. https://doi.org/10.31920/1750-4562/2021v16n2a9
- O'Cathain, A., Drabble, S. J., Foster, A., Horspool, K., Edwards, L., Thomas, C., & Salisbury, C. (2016). Being human: A qualitative interview study exploring why a telehealth intervention for management of chronic conditions had a modest effect.

 Journal of Medical Internet Research, 18(6), 553-563.

 https://doi.org/10.2196.jmir.5879
- Olson, J. D., McAllister, C., Grinnell, L. D., Walters, K. G., & Appunn, F. (2016).

 Applying constant comparative method with multiple investigators and intercoder reliability. *Qualitative Report*, 21(1), 26-42.
- Omar, S. S., Higgs, M., Wei, C. S., & Ali, M. (2020). Network ties' governance in entrepreneurial networking of SMEs: Cases of the owner-managers in the southern region of Malaysia. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, *25*(1), 85-101. https://doi.org/10.21315/aamj2020.25.1.5
- Othman, M., Kamarohim, N., & Maan, L. K. (2018). Factors that influence employees job satisfaction. *European Proceedings of Social & Behavioral Sciences*, 44(1), 347-355. https://doi.org/10.15405/epsbs.2018.07.02.37

- Pampoulou, E. (2016). Collaboration between speech and language therapists and school staff when working with graphic symbols. *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, 32(3), 361-376. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265659016647996
- Pandita, S., & Singhal, R. (2017). The influence of employee engagement on the work-life balance of employees in the IT sector. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 16(1), 38-57.
- Pap, E., Petkovic, M., & Simicevic, A. (2021). Measuring distribution of intellectual capital components contribution: French context. *European Journal of Applied Economics*, 18(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.5937/EJAE18-28628
- Park, J., Chae, H., & Kim, H. J. (2017). When and why high performers feel job dissatisfaction: A resource flow approach. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 45(4), 617-627. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.5877
- Park, S. (2021). MOOCs in the workplace: An intervention for strategic human resource development. *Human Resource Development International*, *24*(3), 329-340. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2018.1516062
- Partridge, C., & Allman, M. (2016). Ethical considerations in network measurement papers. *Communications of the ACM*, *59*(10), 58-74. https://doi.org/10.1145/2896816
- Paulus, T. M., & Bennett, A. M. (2017). I have a love-hate relationship with ATLAS.ti:

 Integrating qualitative data analysis software into a graduate research methods

 course. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education, 40*(1), 19-35.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2015.1056137

- Pek-Greer, P., & Wallace, M. (2017). A study of childcare teacher retention in the childcare service industry. *Global Business Review, 18*(1), 71-86. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150916666879
- Peng, Z. (2020). Germane factors of the financial risk-tolerance of undergraduate business students. *Business Education Innovation Journal*, 12(1), 114-122.
- Penrose, E. G., & Pitelus, C. (2009). *The theory of the growth of the firm* (4th ed.). Wiley & Sons.
- Pessoa de Queiroz Falcao, R., Picanco Cruz, E., Campos Piccoli, D. A., & Cuba Mancebo, R. (2020). Self-employment of Syrian refugees: Unveiling social networks and human capital of food stall owners in Rio de Janeiro. *Revista da Micro e Pequena Empresa*, 14(2), 100-124. https://doi.org/10.48099/1982-2537/2020v14n2p100124
- Peters, D. P. C., Havstad, K. M., Cushing, J., Tweedie, C., Fuentes, O., & Villanueva-Rosales, N. (2014). Harnessing the power of big data: Infusing the scientific method with machine learning to transform ecology. *Concepts & Theory*, *5*(6), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES13-00359.1
- Peticca-Harris, A., deGama, N., & Elias, S. A. (2016). A dynamic process model for finding informants and gaining access in qualitative research. *Organizational Research Methods*, *19*(3), 376-401. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116629218
- Petrova, E., Dewing, J., & Camilleri, M. (2014). Confidentiality in participatory research:

 Challenges from one study. *Nursing Ethics*, *23*(4), 1-13.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733014564909

- Phua, L. K., Lok, C., Chua, Y. X., Lim, T. (2021). Earnings volatility, the use of financial derivatives and earnings management: Evidence from an emerging market.

 *Malaysian Journal of Economic Studies, 58(1), 1-20.

 https://doi.org/10.22452/MJES.vol58no1.1
- Pihlajamaa, M., Kaipia, R., Aminoff, A., & Tanskanen, K. (2019). How to stimulate supplier innovation? Insights from a multiple case study. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 25(3), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2019.05.001
- Planko, J., Cramer, J., Hekkert, M. P., & Chappin, M. M. (2017). Combining the technological innovation systems framework with the entrepreneurs' perspective on innovation. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, 29(6), 614-625. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2016.1220515
- Plummer, P. (2017). Focus group methodology. Part 2: Considerations for analysis. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation, 24*(8), 345-351.

 https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2017.24.8.345
- Polteva, T., Antipov, D., & Klassen, N. (2019). The improvement of the market risk management mechanism at the automotive industry enterprises. *2019 International Conference on Artificial Intelligence, 1*(1), 1005-1014.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/AICAI.2019.8701324
- Povee, K., & Roberts, L. D. (2013). Qualitative research in psychology: Attitudes of psychology students and academic staff. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 66(1), 28-37. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajpy.12031

- Quan, L., & Huy, H. (2014). The effect of entrepreneurial human capital and entrepreneurial failure learning on the entrepreneurial restart intention. *Asian Social Science*, 10(1), 99-112. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v10n16p99
- Rad, M. B., Valmohammadi, C., & Shayan, A. (2019). An empirical investigation of the factors affecting the use of social networks in human resources recruitment.
 International Journal of Public Administration, 43(6), 517-526.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01900592.2019.163396
- Raffiee, J., & Coff, R. (2016). Micro-foundations of firm-specific human capital: When do employees perceive their skills to be firm specific? *Academy of Management Journal*, *59*(1), 755-790. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2014.0286
- Rao, M. S. (2017). Innovative tools and techniques to ensure effective employee engagement. *Industrial & Commercial Training, 49*(3), 127-131. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2016-0037
- Raziyeh, G., & Sudabeh, O. (2017). Trustworth and rigor in qualitative research. *International Journal of Advanced Biotechnology and Research*, 7(4), 1914-1922.
- Reina, C. S., Rogers, K. M., Peterson, S. J., Byron, K., & Hom, P. W. (2018). Quitting the boss? The role of manager influence tactics and employee emotional engagement in voluntary turnover. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 25(1), 5-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051817709007
- Resnik, D. B. (2015). Bioethical issues in providing financial incentives to research participants. *Medicolegal and Bioethics*, *5*(1), 35-41. https://doi.org/10.2147/MB.S70416

- Rissman, A. R., & Gillon, S. (2017). Where are ecology and biodiversity in social-ecological research? A review of research methods and applied recommendations.

 *Conservation Letters, 10(1), 86-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12250
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 11*(1), 25-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Ross, M. W., Iguchi, M. Y., & Panicker, S. (2018). Ethical aspects of data sharing and research participant protections. *American Psychologist*, 73(2), 138-145. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000240
- Rossetto, K. R. (2014). Qualitative research interviews: Assessing the therapeutic value and challenges. *Journal of Social & Personal Relationships*, *31*(4), 482-489. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407514522892
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing bias in teaching qualitative research methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(4), 332-342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414563803
- Rubel, D., & Atieno Okech, J. E. (2017). Qualitative research in group work: Status, synergies, and implementation. *Journal for Specialists in Group Work, 42*(1), 54-86. https://doi.org/10.1080/01933922.2016.1264522
- Rubin, A., & Babbie, E. R. (2016). Empowerment series: Research methods for social work. Cengage Learning.
- Rushing, C. & Powell, L. (2014). Family dynamics of the stay-at-home father and working mother relationship. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *9*(1), 410-420.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988314549414

- Saab, M. M., Landers, M., & Hegarty, J. (2017). Exploring awareness and help-seeking intentions for testicular symptoms among heterosexual, gay, and bisexual men in Ireland: A qualitative descriptive study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 67(1), 41-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.11.016
- Saha, N., Chatterjee, B., Gregar, A., & Saha, P. (2016). The impact of SHRM on sustainable organizational learning and performance development. *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*, *5*(1), 63-75. https://doi.org/10.19236/IJOL.2016.01.06
- Salijeni, G., Samsonova-Taddei, A., & Turley, S. (2021). Understanding how big data technologies reconfigure the nature and organization of financial statement audits:

 A sociomaterial analysis. *European Accounting Review, 30*(3), 531-555.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2021.1882320
- Sarwar, H. (2017). Turnover intentions in Pakistani telecommunication industries: An empirical assessment. *Archives of Business Research*, *5*(2), 83-89. https://doi.org/10.14738/abr.52.3123
- Saunders, B., Kitzinger, J., & Kitzinger, C. (2015). Anonymising interview data:

 Challenges and compromise in practice. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(5), 616-632. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794114550439
- Savage, H., Murray, J., Hatch, S. L., Hotopf, M., Evans-Lacko, S., & Brown J. L. (2016). Exploring professional help-seeking for mental disorders. *Qualitative Health Research*, *26*(12), 1662-1673. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315591483

- Schiemann, W. A., Seibert, J. H., & Blankenship, M. H. (2018). *Human Resource Management*, *57*(3), 795-807. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21843
- Schleicher, D. J., Baumann, H. M., Sullivan, D. W., & Yim, J. (2019). Evaluating the effectiveness of performance management: A 30-year integrative conceptual review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(7), 851-887.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000368
- Schultz, T. W. (1971). *Investment in human capital*. The Free Press.
- Seelhofer, D., & Valeri, G. (2017). The interplay between leadership and team performance: An empirical investigation in a major Swiss HR consulting firm. *Central European Business Review*, 6(1), 5-25.

 https://doi.org/10.18267/j.cebr.170
- Serafica, R. B., Vergara, J. M., & Oren, Q. A. (2021). *Regional analysis of the Philippine* services sector [Research Paper Series RPS 2021-04]. Philippine Institute for Development Studies Research Papers, 4, i-61. http://hdl.handle.net/11540/13753
- Shaked, H., & Schechter, C. (2017). Systems thinking among school middle leaders. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 45(4), 699-718.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/174114321561749
- Shin, S. H., Kim, K. T., & Seay, M. (2020). Sources of information and portfolio allocation. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 76, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2019.102212
- Shuck, B., Osam, K., Zigarmi, D., & Nimon, K. (2017). Definitional and conceptual muddling: Identifying the positionality of employee engagement and defining the

- construct. *Human Resource Development Review, 16*(3), 263-293. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484317720622
- Shukla, P. K., & Shukla, M. P. (2014). Small business survival index traction and movement in rankings of states (2000-2013). *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, 12(1), 153-158. https://doi.org/10.19030/jber.v12i2.8529
- Slimane, N. S. B. (2017). Motivation and job satisfaction of pharmacists in four hospitals in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Health Management*, *19*(1), 39-72. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972063416682559
- Smith, C. M., & Sweet, J. (2021). Analyzing the relationship between Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs and consumer spending patterns. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 75(4), 68-79.
- Soriano, F. A., Villano, R. A., Fleming, E. M., & Battese, G. E. (2018). What's driving innovation in small businesses in Australia? The case of the food industry.

 *Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics, 63(1), 39-71.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8489.12284
- Spivack, A. J., & Milosevic, I. (2018). Perceived location autonomy and work environment choice: The mediating influence of intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *54*(3), 325-348. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886318764353
- St. Pierre, E. A., & Jackson, A. Y. (2014). Qualitative data analysis after coding.

 *Qualitative Inquiry, 20(6), 715-719. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414532435

 Stake, R. E. (2013). *Single case study analysis*. Guilford Press.

- Sunwoo, H., Law, J., Lee, W., & Oh, S. (2021). The importance of organizational context for the relation between human capital investment and firm performance:

 Evidence from labor unions. *Journal of Management Accounting Research*, *33*(1), 197-217. https://doi.org/10.2308/jmar-19-009
- Swider, B. W., Barrick, M. R., & Harris, T. B. (2016). Initial impressions: What they are, what they are not, and how they influence structured interview outcomes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101(1), 625-638. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000077
- Tacchino, K. B. (2020). Three ways the tax code helps low- and moderate-income clients. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 74(5), 6-10.
- Tavakol, M., & Sandars, J. (2014). Quantitative and qualitative methods in medical education research: AMEE guide no 90: Part I. *Med Teach*, *36*(9), 746-76. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2014.915298
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 14*(1), 23-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Thorpe, A. S. (2014). Doing the right thing or doing the thing right: Implications of participant withdrawal. *Organizational Research Methods*, *17*(3), 255-277. https://doi.org/10.1177/109442811452482
- Tietz, M., & Parker, S. (2014). Charitable donations by the self-employed. *Small Business Economics*, 43(4), 899-916. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-014-9580-6
- Tight, M. (2016). Phenomenography: The development and application of an innovative research design in higher education research. *International Journal of Social*

- Research Methodology, 19(3), 319-338.
- https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1010284
- Timmerman, I., & Volkov, N. (2021). Education, career choice, and financial planning: Implications for financial planners. *Journal of Financial Planning*, *34*(2), 64-67.
- Toma, S. G., Grigore, A. M., & Marinescu, P. (2014). Economic development and entrepreneurship. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 8(1), 436-443. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(14)00111-7
- Tsaurai, K. (2021). Is economic growth a panacea for poverty reduction in emerging markets? *Journal of Developing Areas*, 55(2), 223-237. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2021.0041
- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2010). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work, 11*(1), 80-96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325010368316
- Turcut, M. L. (2016). Investing in job training in Romania. Annals of the University of Oradea. *Economic Science Series*, *25*(1), 435-443.
- Turkel, S., Uzunoglu, E., & Kip, S. M. (2021). Shared meaning at the intersection of NPO reputation and trust: A personification perspective. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 26(1), 124-142. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-01-2020-0018
- Turner, S., & Endres, A. (2017). Strategies for enhancing small business owners' success rates. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, *16*(1), 34-49. https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.03
- Ulrich, D., Younger, J., Brockbank, W., & Ulrich, M. D. (2013). The state of the HR

- profession. *Human Resource Management*, *52*(3), 457-471. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21536
- Unger, J. M., Rauch, A., Frese, M., & Rosenbusch, N. (2011). Human capital and entrepreneurial success: A meta-analytical review. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 26(3), 341-348. https://doi.org/10.101/j.jbusvent.2009.09.004
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2014). *About HHS*. https://www.hhs.gov/about/index.html
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (n.d.-a). SCORE business mentoring.

 https://sba.gov/local-assistance/resource-partners/score-business-mentoring
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (n.d.-b). *Small business development centers*(SBDC). https://sba.gov/local-assistance/resource-partners/small-business-development-centers-sbdc
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (n.d.-c). *Women's Business Centers*.

 https://sba.gov/local-assistance/resource-partners/womens-business-centers
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2018). About small business.
 https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/Frequently-Asked-Questions-Small-Business-2018.pdf
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2020a). 2019 small business profile: Illinois. https://s3.amazonaws.com/advocacy-prod.sba.fun/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/23142647/2019-Small-Business-Profiles-IL.pdf
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2020b). Top business trends for 2021.
 https://www.sba.gov/blog/top-business-trends-2021

- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2021a). Paycheck protection program.
 https://www.sba.gov/funding-programs/loans/covid-19-relief-options/paycheck-protection-program
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2021b). The importance of business ownership to wealth. https://www.cdn.advocacy.sba.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/17095726/Small-Business-Facts-Business-Owner-Wealth.pdf
- Valerio, M. A., Rodriguez, N., Winkler, P., Lopez, J., Dennison, M., Liang, Y., & Turner, B. J. (2016). Comparing two sampling methods to engage hard-to-reach communities in research priority setting. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16(1), 146-157. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0242-z
- Van Dijk, J., Vervoort, S., van Wijk, A., Kalkman, C., & Schuurmans, M. (2015).

 Postoperative patients' perspectives on rating pain: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Nursing*, 53(1), 260-269.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.08.007
- Vandenberghe, V. (2018). The contribution of educated workers to firms' efficiency gains: The key role of proximity to the 'local' frontier. *De Economist*, 166(1), 259-283. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10645-018-9322-2
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation, and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40-50.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124

- Vining, R. D., Salsbury, S. A., & Pohlman, K. A. (2014). Eligibility determination for clinical trials: Development of a case review process at a chiropractic research center. *Trials*, *15*(1), 406-417. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6215-15-406
- von Bertalanffy, L. (1972). The history and status of general systems theory. *Academy of Management Journal*, 15(4), 407-426. https://doi.org/10.5465/255139
- Wallace, M., & Sheldon, N. (2015). Business research ethics: Participant observer perspectives. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *128*(2), 267-277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-014-2102-2
- Wendsche, J., Hacker, W., & Wegge, J. (2017). Understaffing and registered nurses' turnover: The moderating role of regular rest breaks. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(3), 238-259.
- Wesemann, A. (2021). The performance rewards of human capital development in the Federal Government. *Public Personnel Management, 1*, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1177/00910260211039876
- Westwood, J. (2019). How to write a marketing plan (6th ed.). Kogan Page Publishers.
- Wiedner, R., & Mantere, S. (2019). Cutting the cord: Mutual respect, organizational autonomy, and independence in organizational separation processes.

 Administrative Science Quarterly, 64(1), 659-693.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0001839218779806
- Wilson, M. S., & Chaudhry, A. (2017). Can empowerment and organizational support for development stem turnover? It depends on power distance. *South Asian Journal of Human Resources Management*, 4(1), 72-95.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2322093717705278

- Wilson, V. (2016). Research methods: Triangulation. *Evidence Based Library and Information Practice*, 11(1), 66-68. https://doi.org/10.18438/b86s5f
- Witts, J. O. (2016). *The role of strategic leadership in banking profitability* (Publication No. 1796054420) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Wolfson, M. A., & Mathieu, J. E. (2021). Deploying human capital resources:

 Accentuating effects of situational alignment and social capital resources.

 Academy of Management Journal, 64(2), 435-457.

 https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2019.0500
- Wright, C. F., & Constantin, A. (2021). Why recruit temporary sponsored skilled migrants? A human capital theory analysis of employer motivations in Australia.

 Australian Journal of Management, 46(1), 151-173.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896219895061
- Wright, P. M., Coff, R., & Moliterno, T. P. (2014). Strategic human capital: Crossing the great divide. *Journal of Management*, 40(2), 353-370. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313518437
- Yallwe, A. H., & Buscemi, A. (2014). An era of intangible assets. *Journal of Applied Finance and Banking*, 4(5), 1-2.
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:

 Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48(1), 311-325. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12014

- Yilmaz, T. K., & Cagiltay, K. (2016). Designing and developing game-like learning experience in virtual worlds: Challenges and design decisions of novice instructional designers. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 7(1), 206-222. https://doi.org/10.30935/cedtech/6173
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2017). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research: Design and methods (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Zakaria, S. (2017). The use of financial derivatives in measuring bank risk management efficiency: A data envelopment analysis approach. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 22(2), 209-244. https://doi.org/10.21315/aamj2017.22.2.8
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, *27*(1), 13-15. https://doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v27i1.4
- Zheng, C., Kashi, K., Fan, D., Molineux, J., & Ee, M. S. (2016). Impact of individual coping strategies and organizational work-life balance programmes on Australian employee well-being. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 27(5), 501-526. https://doi.org/1080/09585192.2015.1020447
- Zozimo, R., Jack, S., & Hamilton, E. (2017). Entrepreneurial learning from observing role models. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 29(9), 889-911. https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2017.1376518

Appendix: Interview Protocol

The research question for this study is: What financial knowledge and skills do small business leaders use to succeed in business beyond 5 years? This qualitative multiple case study will consist of 9 open-ended interview questions to gain financial knowledge and skills from small business owners who have achieved business sustainability beyond 5 years in Northern Illinois.

Protocol Steps	Protocol Actions
Select study	I will contact potential study participants by email, phone, or other
participants	online media that is acceptable under the guidelines of Walden
	University.
Setup time and	I will setup the interviews at a mutually agreeable time over the
setting for each	phone or video conference.
interview	
Introduce the	For each participant, I will state the purpose of the study, obtain
interview and	verbal consent, and provide an emailed copy of the consent form. I
set the stage	will give each participant time to read the consent form and ask
	questions prior to needing to reply "I consent" to the email
	consenting to the consent form if they wish to participate. I will
	provide each participant with an emailed copy for personal records.
Initiate the	To comply with current Walden University guidelines, I will inform
recorded	each participant that I will be utilizing the Zoom® video
interview	conferencing software record feature as well as taking an audio
within the time	recording of the phone or video conference session to ensure
constraint	accuracy and precision. I will ensure the audio recorders are on and
	will note the date, time, and setting of the interview. I will start each
	interview with the background of the participant, including (a)
	educational background, (b) years of experience, and (c) position or
	title at the organization. I will state on the audio recorders that the
	participants consented to the consent form before the interview
	began by replying to the consent form email with the words, "I
	consent". I will have a 45-minute time limit for responses to all
	interview questions, including time for additional follow-up
	questions and responses.

Conduct interview	1. What financial training or education helped prepare you to become a small business owner?
questions at the same time as	2. What financial knowledge and skills were a strength in preparation to become a small business owner?
watching for non-verbal	3. What financial training and education, if any, did you acquire to help you stay in business beyond 5 years?
cues, paraphrasing as	4. What financial knowledge and skills were instrumental in achieving financial success of your business beyond 5 years?
appropriate, and providing	5. What were the most significant challenges or barriers you experienced in the first 5 years of opening your small business?
follow-up questions to get	6. What key financial knowledge and skills did you use to address the most significant challenges or barriers?
more in-depth	7. What businesses or organizations, if any, provided additional financial knowledge and skills that increased the success of your small business? 8. How have you assessed the effectiveness of your financial knowledge and skills for sustaining your business beyond 5 years? 9. What additional information can you share regarding financial knowledge and skills small business leaders need to achieve financial success beyond 5 years?
Wrap up interview and thank participant	When interviews end, I will remind each participant that they will receive an emailed copy of the data interpretation with the opportunity to provide any feedback.
Email interpretation	Provide each participant with a copy of the interpretation of the data along with time to provide any feedback. At the conclusion, I will
of the data for participant	extend a final thank you to the participants for taking the time to participate in the study.
review as part of the member	participate in the study.
checking process	